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Five Years Financial Summary

hFMHHE

Year ended 31 December

HE+ZAZ=+—HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Results EF —_E_C _E_—F _E_EF “E-hEF “E-N\F
Revenue Wrza

(RMB'000) NS ) 60,709 173,974 275,541 804,898 90,251
(Loss) profit attributable KATZHEBA

to owners of the (L (8538) i

Company (RMB'000) (AREF7m) (55,768) (400,926) (7,775) 74,184 (34,461)
(Losses) earnings per share % (E518) BB A

(RMB cents)* (NEHED)*
- Basic —EK (21.92) (157.55) (4.26) 40.66 (21.57)
- Diluted —#8 (21.92) (157.55) (4.26) 40.66 (21.57)
* Based on share consolidation of every ten old shares consolidated i RIEETRERD S H R —RIRMDHRG & 05

into one new share. Ho
At 31 December
R+ZB=+—8
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Assets and liabilities BERER —E-C TEC—F ECERF “E-hEF “E-N\F
Total assets BEEE

(RMB'000) AE#EFT) 614,052 722,210 1,096,471 1,183,485 1,535,616
Total liabilities BEEE

(RMB'000) (NE®EFm) (414,096) (444,133) (353,288) (494,908) (942,117)
Net asset value BEFE

(RMB'000) ANR®F7) 199,956 278,077 743,183 688,577 593,499
Equity attributable to owners BATZHB A

of the parent (RMB'000) bR

NS 224,147 284,107 685,468 631,426 557,022

Non-controlling interests el 4

(RMB'000) (NE®ETT) (24,191) (6,030) 57,715 57,151 36,477
Total equity e 199,956 278,077 743,183 688,577 593,499

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the major business segments of the Group
during the Year is as follows:

Property Development and Investment

The Group operates two property development projects
located in Maoming City, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The first Maoming Project
has been developed into a composite of residential and
commercial properties in three phases (the “First Maoming
Project”). Majority of the commercial and residential
properties of the First Maoming Project had been delivered
in 2019 and most of the proceeds from sales of the First
Maoming Project has been used in the development of
the second Maoming Project situated at Maoming Jixiang
District* (X% ™S /&) (the “Second Maoming
Project”).

During the Year, the revenue attributed to the property
development and investment business amounted to
approximately RMB60,709,000 (2021: RMB173,974,000),
representing sales of properties of approximately
RMB60,546,000 (2021: RMB172,547,000) and
rental income of approximately RMB163,000 (2021:
RMB1,427,000). The total area of residential and
commercial properties of the First Maoming Project
recognised as sales approximately 2,681 square meters and
2,301 square meters respectively (2021: 11,801 square
meters and 4,983 square meters respectively). 272 units
(2021: 160 units) of car parking spaces for both private
cars and motorbikes were recognised as sales during the
Year.

BIEE W &ﬁ#ﬁ

e e
FEERFEEZIEXEABEBMOT

MEBRRRIRE
AEBRKEMBEUNRPEAREHEME (TR
) BERERLTHEMEMRBIER - F—
BERLEEBEE D -—HERATEABEYE
HxeaE ((F—EX%BER)) - F—EX%A
Eﬁk% FHAREEYVEER_-_ZE—N&F
R F—ERBEBEBENABOHEERERE
EERRaTER/)NEE _ERLEBEENRME
(MEZ@EXRER]) °

RAFEE MEZRBRERREEERERMLZK
HHARME60,709,000c (ZE - —F
AR®173,974,0007) » BN EHEELY
AR #60,546,000 0 (ZE - —F : AR
#172,547,0007m) RFESWAN AR
163,0007T (:’;_—fﬁ ANE#1,427,000
7T) c HERABEEZE—ERXK %EEME%
EEBAYEZEERESRN2,681 A KK
2301 FEF/F K (ZEZ—F . 9511,801F A
KK4,983FFHK) cRAFE BIBABHEEZ
IAREHERBE 2 EEMA272E (22—
£ 1601@) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEES RO

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the sales
of the First Maoming Project is near the end while the
Second Maoming Project is still under development.
Gross profit margin was improved as profit margin was
driven down by the sales campaign to match the prices of
major competitors in 2021. Due to the negative market
sentiment and challenging operating conditions in property
sector under the COVID-19 pandemic, an allowance of
RMB5,222,000 (2021: 302,818,000) was recorded for the
properties held for sale, and approximately RMB48,187,000
(2021: RMB71,026,000) of allowance was recognised
for properties under development. Selling and marketing
expenses was decreased by approximately RMB5,461,000
as the pre-sales of the Second Maoming Project were
postponed.

The Second Maoming Project

On 27 November 2019, Maoming Shang Cheng Real
Estate Company Limited* (%% L EXBRAE) (the
“Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, successfully won
the bid of land use rights of the Second Maoming Project
situated at Maoming Jixiang District* (R &S/ &)
with a total site area of approximately 29,274.16 square
meters and the consideration of which was approximately
RMB241,512,000. The land acquisition transaction by
Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate was completed in
2020. The Second Maoming Project was planned to be
developed into a composite of residential and commercial
properties with the following approximate planned areas:

Land site area
AR ETR

Gross saleable area
Mol EmEE
Residential areas
FEER
Commercial areas
I

Carpark spaces

R
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KRB TERHRE—ERLEENHEE
BRI ER ME_@XLEENMAEREFR -E
MNERERS ERAMNBXR_ZEZ—FC
EEHZFHFESNHEEITHM FE AR
MAEBKFREMAXEBE T EAEEEmAY
EMBERRERBE AL FIEHENYER
BEHEARKS,222,0000 (ZEZ—F: A
R#302,818,0007) U &R 1E 2 YY) ¥ D
B ANRKEA8,187,000c (ZCEZ—F | AR
#71,026,00070) c HE REHBIH LA A
K 5,461,000 c PR BE_ERX2EBEENTE
EWERS-

B_EXRIER

N _E—NEFE+—B+tH c&EBEE
F2ENBLATRBLEBEXRRAD (MK
ZLEHEX) MRKEBAOAR241,512,000
TP RRETEENEET_EAKXBER
(MR ERELN29,274. 16 F HFK) 2 HH#n1fE
B -RLLLHBENIHRERZER S
T EFERRoR_ERREBHERERAE
TEREREYEALA—BHNFRAERER MR
EEmBEmT

29,000m?
29,0003 773K
84,000m?
84,0007 77 3K
59,000m?
59,0003 73 3K
25,000m?
25,0003 773K
1,000 units
1,0001&



Management Discussion and Analysis

Due to the pandemic, construction of the development
of Second Maoming Project had been delayed, so as to
the pre-sales plan. As at March 2023, approximately 48%
of the construction had completed. Construction of the
basement, kindergarten and first 2 blocks of residential
buildings had been completed. Pre-sales of the residential
blocks was started in June 2022, and the pre-sales of the
other parts of the project was rescheduled as follows:

Pre-Sales of residential properties (The two blocks)
FEWEFEE (WiE)

Pre-Sales of apartment properties

NEBYMERE

Pre-Sales of commercial properties

HEYERE

Pre-Sales of car parks and shops
FEAKBATEE

Completion and delivery

% T3 R AT

The management of the Group believes the upcoming pre-
sales will strengthen the financial position of the Group.

Trading of raw cane sugar

For the Year, there was no revenue from trading of
raw cane sugar as the global market of raw cane sugar
remaining volatile due to the continuous COVID-19
pandemic. The management of the Group will continue to
take extra precautions to mitigate relevant business risks.

BIEE W &ﬁ#ﬁ

SREBERE - F_ERXLEEBNHEESRKTE
EfEWER - BE_S _=ZF=H > #%48%
MERDKT oM ~E %) 5 B KA iEE
TENERETH - FTEEBNEEENR__Z
T CENBEHGB O BEHEMBONBEREE
Mg

June 2022
Y =

Second half year of 2023
—E=FTHF
Second half year of 2023
SECCETEE
First half year of 2024
“ERMEE¥F
First half year of 2025
“ETRFEY¥F

AEBEEERE BRFAHRNEER MR
REBBF BRI

REREE S

REFE ARFTEESRBEMXBHEFTE
EXMRFED SR RS A TE > B UL I K
BEREREZHNBRA - TAEEEEEREBER
ENERSNFRRL HE b LUR R AR R 2 B R Bz o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEES RO

MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The global economic generally suffered a strong setback
under the COVID-19 pandemic in 2022. The real estate
sector in China was overshadowed by the debt defaults of
some largest property companies. As economic uncertainty
leading to negative market sentiment, together with the
stringent measures on loans and debt refinancing, housing
sales in China generally declined in 2021 and 2022,
particularly in second and third tier cities.

The property market is still a cornerstone of GDP growth of
China, with the government policy on easing of financing
at the end of 2022 and the recent border reopening,
the management is cautiously optimistic about China’s
property market. Given the continuing urbanisation and
infrastructure development in Maoming and western
Guangdong province, the management expects that the
property market will be vigorous again as impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic gradually fading out while local
demands remain strong.

The sales of the remaining properties of the First Maoming
Project will be continued and the Group will accelerate the
construction progress of the Second Maoming Project to
catch up with the pre-sales schedule. Regarding the trading
of raw sugar, the management of the Group will cautiously
monitor the commodity market of raw cane sugar and will
further explore the trading business while sufficient risk
mitigations can be implemented.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Year, the Group’'s revenue amounted to
approximately RMB60,709,000 (2021: RMB173,974,000)
were all contributed from property development and
investment business. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB55,768,000 (2021:
RMB400,926,000). The decrease in revenue was due to the
sales of the First Maoming Project is nearing the end, while
the Second Maoming Project is still under development.
Gross profit margin was improved as profit margin was
driven down by the sales campaign in to match the prices
of major competitors in 2021. The decrease in loss was
mainly due to the decrease in allowance recognised for
properties held for sale and under development in the Year.

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances and cash were
approximately RMB26,710,000 (2021: RMB40,142,000)
and pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB3,924,000
(2021: RMB4,482,000) have been pledged to guarantee
the mortgage loans granted by the banks to customers
of the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the total assets
of the Group was approximately RMB614,052,000
(2021: RMB722,210,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 15% (2021: 34%). The decrease was
mainly due to the allowance recognised on properties
held for sale and properties under development, and fair
value loss on investment properties. As at 31 December
2022, the Group’s total secured bank borrowings,
bank overdrafts and other borrowing amounted to
approximately RMB21,028,000 (2021: RMB18,129,000).
As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio, expressed
as a percentage of total secured bank borrowings, other
borrowing and bank overdrafts over net assets was
approximately 11% (2021: 7%) and the current ratio was
approximately 1.5 (2021: 1.6).

BIEE W &ﬁ#ﬁ

Fi %5 [ol &

REAFE AREBEBNKRZOARIE
60,709,000 (ZE = —F . AR &
173,974,00070) 2 BXREYWEZER KK
BEXF ARBEEBEAELEBEEABLOA
K ®55,768,000c (ZEZ—F : AR¥
400,926,0007) o Wm /A Th N E — @K
LIEENHEERIEE ME_BXREBMDN
EREF - ARFIBXER S —FUEETE
REHFERNEEEESHM N FBEEBRHR
HNE-BRALVEIEEHARRAFENBIDFE
HEMERTEEYESE TR

RIEZZF+ZB=+—H i RT&EFKRA
AN ANRM26,710,00070 (ZEZ—F . A
K #40,142,0007T) X EBEFRITERAREK
3,924,00050 (2= —%F . AR 4,482,000
7o) BERE LERETEFAEBRTEN
BESH R _E-_—_F#+-_B=+—8"
REBNESEEASLNAR®G614,052,0007T
(ZB2 - —%F : ANRE%722,210,0007T)
WA E15% (ZEZ—F 1 34%) o &Z A D
DETEHARBERIBFELHEVEREREY X
HNEHEURKREYEZ AAEBEAR K
:7::¢+ )% +—H XAEBENBIR
HIRTER RBTEIXREMEREEAD
AR#21, ozs ooom(_v_—ﬁ AR
18,129,0007t) KRB -__F+ "B =+—
BrEEEEX (UBAEBETER EME
TR TEZBERUEESREZA DS
H)AKN11% (ZE2E-—F :7%) » mmnatt
KA1 5 (T _—F:16)°
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB mR I

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$254,469,052
divided into 254,469,052 shares of HK$1.00 each.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

The Group’s former auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmastsu
("Deloitte™), has resigned as the auditor of the Group with
effect from 15 August 2022 as the Company and Deloitte
failed to agree on the scope of the independent forensic
investigation. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 17 August 2022 in relation to the resignation of
Deloitte.

On 9 September 2022, the Company has appointed
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan”) as
the new auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in auditor
during the last three years.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management will monitor foreign
exchange exposure closely and consider the use of hedging
instruments when the need arises.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

BGHE

RWZE_—_#+"_HB=+—H"> $QTME%
TEBRKRAEAABIE254,469,05270° 0 A&
254,469,052 S REEEM1.00TH D

E I HEm

FEBERZBMES BMEMRS E5TET (13
B EZE_"FNATLAERTELEER
ZRZHMEE  REBRAT KRB REME
VA RRENBEERN — R -ERBEHRES

2RARBHBA_ZE__FN\A+tHZ
N

RZZEZ_FNARBRAR FAATEZERE
(&%) SstmEHBAARLE ((RF)) BFE
NCIEREE Gl

R EXFIRBEEN BE=FLHAMLESL
) o

5 BE R B

AEERDNBEaREENERTEUAR
B EThBESBE - xEENEREERE
BAUARE -ETkBESE:. QHU$$
WEEFIINER TR R - A EEES
ﬁ*%?l\[ﬂﬁw’Ifﬁﬁgﬂ%%f@ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂl
Ho



Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying values of
approximately RMB14,612,000 (2021: RMB13,878,000)
were pledged to banks for securing general banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.
As at 31 December 2022, pledged bank deposits of
RMB3,924,000 (2021: RMB4,482,000) of the Group
were pledged to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which
guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks. As
at 31 December 2022, banking facilities of approximately
RMB12,184,000 (2021: RMB9,979,000) were utilised and
approximately RMB96,000 (2021: RMB8,767,000) were
unutilised.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segment information are set out in note 6 of
notes to this report.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had commitments for
development of properties amounted to RMB295,205,000
(2021: RMB316,705,000).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 53 (2021:
55) full time employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. Total
remuneration of the Group for the Year was approximately
RMB14,633,000 (2021: RMB18,449,000). The Group’s
emolument policies are formulated on the basis of market
trends, future plans and the performance of individuals,
which will be reviewed periodically. Apart from provident
fund scheme and state-managed social welfare scheme,
share options will also be awarded to employees according
to assessment of individuals’ performance.

BIEE W &ﬁ#ﬁ

BEERR

RIEZZHF+ZHA=+—H ' xEBERKER
HEHNARB14,612,000T (ZTEZ—F : A
E#13,878,0007T) B9&E T E L #th K igF i
HPRT EALXABDETHBABTERE —K
BITEEZER - R _E__F+_HB=+—
H> AR#3,924,000 0 (ZEZ—F: AE
#4,482,00070) 2 A E B BIRBETERE
EIRF UESBREBEFTEAEEYEZETER
ZERBEF MASLEEMRZERBEARDIER
TREER R_E__F+=-B=+—H">
MHANRM12,184,000c (ZEZ—F: AR
9,979,0007T) WIRTTEEEFHRA KN AR
96,0007t (ZEZ=Z—4%F : AR #8,767,0007T)
KB

SEER
DEE R Z5F B E N WS M5 Z M 56 o

BERKRHEMEE
RIE__F#+_B=+—H x&EEBHZEY
HEORESREASAR295,205,0007T (=&
——% . AR316,705,0007T) °

2 5 K Fr B R

RIE - &+ _BA=Z+—H xEBAESE

BERPHEMESIMN (ZEZ—F . 551) &
HEE AEEBRNAEEZHFMWNBEAD
AR #14,633,0000 (ZCE - —F: AR

18,449,0007T) - NEBMFHME KT kIE™
8B AR E B ARRMEIT > L E H
ETRT -RIERABSFIAEREELS
BRI ETEISN  BREFRBEHEARENTGE
BIESEH » UIEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEES RO

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum obligation
in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to certain
purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
approximately RMB41,814,000 (2021: RMB80,814,000).

DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or proposed during the Year. The
Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2022 nor material acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries during the Year and there is no plan for
material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

FORENSIC INVESTIGATION

Certain bank accounts (the “Bank Accounts”) of two of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Maoming Huada Real
Estate Development Limited* (X2 EAEMERES
FRA ) (“Maoming Huada”) and Maoming Shang Cheng
Real Estate (collectively, the “Maoming Subsidiaries”) were
frozen in January 2022. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 28 January 2022 and 28 March
2022 for details. An independent forensic consultant was
engaged to conduct an investigation into the incident of
freezing of Bank Accounts ("“Investigation”).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Investigation had been completed in September 2022.
The reason for the frozen of the Bank Accounts is that an
associate of the former executive Directors (the “Subject
Party”) was under investigation by the Security Bureau of
Zhangjiang City (”Security Bureau”). The Security Bureau,
for prudence sake, temporarily froze all assets that might
possibly be related to the Subject Party, including the Bank
Accounts of the Maoming Subsidiaries. Pursuant to the
legal opinion issued by the PRC legal adviser, the subject
of investigation by the Security Bureau did not include
the Maoming Subsidiaries. The responsible officer sent by
a PRC bank (the “Bank”) to monitor the Bank Accounts
has expressed that the Maoming Subsidiaries operated
legally and were not involved in any illegal operations or
illegal activities, and there was no evidence as shown in
the Industrial and Commercial Register that the Maoming
Subsidiaries have any relationship with the Subject Party.
The Bank Accounts have been unfrozen since 9 March
2022 upon entering into the custodian agreement
("Custodian Agreement”) between the Maoming
Subsidiaries and the Bank, the Bank Accounts have since
then been operated jointly by the Bank and the Maoming
Subsidiaries which requires approval by the Bank according
to the terms of the Custodian Agreement. Normal
operational transfer of funds in the Bank Accounts have
been approved by the Bank to ensure the normal operation
of business of the Maoming Subsidiaries.

During the course of the Investigation, it was found that
some of the transactions under the Investigation were
lack of proper approval or supporting documentation. The
Board noted that no money was lost on those transactions
and concurred with the view of the independent
investigation committee (which comprised the independent
non-executive Directors) that there was potential deficiency
in the internal control systems and the Group's internal
control mechanisms need to be strengthened. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 31 October 2022
for detail findings of the Investigation.

The management has conducted a throughout review and
found that there were (i) subcontract of construction works
to the minority shareholders of the Maoming Subsidiaries
in the amount of approximately RMB10 million, and (i)
provision of short-term loans to the minority shareholders
of the Maoming Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount of
RMB6 million which had been fully repaid.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEES RO

Subcontract of Construction Works to a Minority
Shareholder

The Investigation found that in October 2021, Maoming
Shang Cheng Real Estate paid a construction progress
payment of RMB5 million to one of its minority shareholder
who holds 20% equity interest in Maoming Shang Cheng
Real Estate through a corporation in which he owns 50%
equity interest (“Shang Cheng MS"). The construction
works subcontracted to Shang Cheng MS were mainly
for the repair and maintenance works done upon the
completion of the First Maoming Project in 2020 including
installation of fire-proof doors, restoration of underground
parking, waterproof and repair works, and restoration of
shops. Total amount of the subcontracts was approximately
RMB10 million. All the subcontract payments with Shang
Cheng MS, except the one for restoration of shops in
October 2021 amounted to RMB174,570, were fully
settled during the Year. Since then, the Group has no other
subcontracts or transactions with the Shang Cheng MS.

Short-term Loans to a Minority Shareholder

The Investigation also found that in July 2021, Maoming
Huada advanced RMB5 million to its minority shareholder
who is interested in 10% equity interest in Maoming
Huada (the “Huada MS"). Nevertheless, there was another
RMB1 million advanced to the Huada MS in July 2021. The
two short-term loans were fully repaid before the year end
of 2021, and since then, the Group has no other loan or
financial assistance provided to the minority shareholders of
the Maoming Subsidiaries.

The above subcontract of construction works and loans
to the minority shareholders constituted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to strengthen the internal control systems
of the Group so as to avoid the occurrence of similar
non-compliance with the Listing Rules, the Board had
appointed an independent internal control consultant
("IC Consultant”) to review the internal control systems
of the Group. The IC Consultant had finished the internal
control review exercise and had provided the Board with
suggestions to improve the Group’'s internal control
systems. The Board had adopted the suggestions and
implemented relevant internal control management policies
and measures, particularly those for conflict of interests,
connected and notifiable transactions with training to the
Board. The IC Consultant was satisfied with the result after
the implementation of the policies and measures, and
believes that the Group’s internal control management
system has been improved, and there are no major risks or
concerns in the Group’s internal control system.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and
up to the date of this report.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Due to the delay in publication of the audited annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
("2021 Audited Annual Results”), trading in the shares
of the Company (the “Shares”) on the Stock Exchange
was suspended from 27 May 2022. The Stock Exchange
issued the resumption guidance on 17 July 2022 for the
resumption of trading in the Shares. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 1 August 2022 in relation
to the resumption guidance. As at the date of this report,
the management endeavours to fulfil other resumption
requirements as soon as possible.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pan Shimin (“Mr. Pan”), aged 52, was appointed as
an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on
28 January 2022. He was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 10 February 2022. Mr. Pan
resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company
and was appointed as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
on 17 June 2022. He has over twenty years of corporate
and project management experience. Mr. Pan obtained his
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Northeastern
University in the Peoples’ Republic of China in 1994. He
was a director of the light metals department of HATCH
Project Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from August 2011
to September 2014. He served as the director of Asia
Pacific affairs and the general manager of Brochot (Tianjin)
Metallurgical Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd. from
October 2014 to May 2015. He was the general manager
of the mineral resources department of Beijing Qixing
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. in 2019.

Mr. Chen Xian (“Mr. Chen"), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director and the vice-chairman of the
Company on 12 October 2007 and was re-designated as
the chairman of the Company on 30 November 2007.
Mr. Chen was further re-designated as the vice-chairman
of the Company on 17 August 2012. He is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is one
of the founders of a sizeable property development
company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been a member of
the senior management of a subsidiary of that company.
Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for the investment and
development of real estate projects of such companies.
Before joining those companies, Mr. Chen worked as a
senior member of certain state-owned companies and the
local authority. He has more than 19 years of extensive
experience in the investment and development of real
estate projects. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau).
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 54, was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company on 17 June 2022. He has over
28 years of working experience in various industries
including corporate governance in listed companies, real
estate developments, infrastructure developments and
management, real estate investment trusts (REITS), asset
management, banking and corporate finance, securities
investments and natural resources etc. Mr. Cheng has
been the chairman and an executive director of each of
De Tai New Energy Group Limited (@ company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 559)
and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code:
1466) since August 2021 and September 2019 respectively.
Mr. Cheng was a non-executive director of IRC Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 1029) from February 2017 to March 2020
and an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 1106) from February 2017 to August 2018. Mr.
Cheng previously held other positions in Kingston Securities
Limited, Australian Property Development Company, Yuexiu
REIT Asset Management Limited, Zhongrong International
Asset Management Limited, CITIC Ka Wah Bank and BNP
etc.

He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University
of Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of International Accountants. He is also a member of
Institute of Management Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EE[N

Mr. To Kwan (“Mr. To”), aged 48, was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) on 15 June 2022. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce (accounting and finance) from The University
of Melbourne, Australia. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Easy Repay Finance & Investment
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 8079) since 1 November 2022. Mr. To was
an executive director of Sino Union Energy Investment
Group Limited (“Sino Union”) (now known as Yanchang
Petroleum International Limited) (@ company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 346) during
April 2012 to August 2014 and the chief financial officer
of Sino Union during December 2009 to March 2012.
He was also the chief financial officer of Hoifu Petroleum
Group Limited (now known as Wisdom Wealth Resources
Investment Holding Group Limited) (@ company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 007)
during May 2012 to April 2014, the chief accountant and
financial controller of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 603) during September 2004 to December
2008 and the chief financial officer of Tem Fat Hing Fung
(Holdings) Limited (now known as China Daye Non-Ferrous
Metals Mining Limited) (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 661) during
December 2002 to May 2004. He has over 20 years of
experience in accounting, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and corporate governance. He is a member of
the CPA Australia.
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Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (“Mr. Yau”), aged 45, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) on 6 July 2022. He has over 20 years
of experience in various sections of the financial industry
including audit and corporate finance. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Chi Ho Development
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 8423) since February 2017. He was
the financial controller of Janco Holdings Limited (“Janco™)
(@ company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 8035) from July 2015 to October 2019 and was also
an executive director and company secretary of Janco from
April 2016 to October 2019.

Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor’s degree of business
administration in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chen Weijiang (“Mr. Chen Weijiang”), aged 49, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively on 3 January 2020. Mr. Chen
Weijiang has over twenty years of experience in the sugar
markets in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chen
Weijiang obtained a law degree from the Xi‘an Politics
Institute of the People’s Liberation Army* (2} 5 78 2 X
JA2 ) and commenced work at the Zhanjiang Hengde
Sugar Company Limited* GEJLIEEREEBRAT)Iin
1997. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Chen Weijiang acted as the
executive director of Zhanjiang Hengde Sugar Company
Limited* GRILIBEMEE AR RA).
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Biographical Details of Directors

EE[N

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (“Mr. Lee”) (formerly as, Li Chun
Chiu), aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 17 June 2022. He obtained a
Master's degree of science in financial engineering from
City University of Hong Kong in 2007. He was awarded the
Bachelor's (Honour) degree in accounting and finance from
Manchester Metropolitan University in 1994. Mr. Lee has
been an executive director of Pinestone Capital Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 804) since 14 September 2022. He was the
senior vice president of Eternal Sincere Finance Limited
from May 2019 to 12 June 2022. He was a chief operating
officer of BOA Financial Group Limited from September
2017 to May 2019, a director of the synthetic prime
service of Haitong International Securities Company Limited
during December 2015 to September 2017, a director of
global commodities division of China Merchants Securities
(HK) Co., Ltd during April 2014 to December 2015, an
operations manager of QRMO (Quality Risk Management
& Operations) from June 2013 to April 2014, a director
of finance and treasury division of BOC International
Holdings Limited during August 2006 to June 2013, an
assistant manager of the risk management department of
Mizuho Securities Asia Limited from September 2005 to
June 2006 and controller of Hong Kong product control
division, Singapore financial control division and Hong
Kong financial control division of Credit Suisse First Boston
(HK) Ltd. during May 2004 to October 2004, October
2002 to April 2004 and December 1999 to October 2002
respectively. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in internal
control, risk management and regulatory compliance.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company was in compliance with
all the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1, which
are explained below.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr.
Pan Shimin, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, was also the Chief Executive Officer during the
period from 10 February 2022 to 17 June 2022. The Board
believed that the aforesaid arrangement did not impair the
balance of power and authority. The aforesaid deviation
from CG Code provision C.2.1 is rectified upon the
appointment of Mr. Cheng Chi Kin as an executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 17 June 2022
and Mr. Pan Shimin simultaneously ceased to be the Chief
Executive Officer and remains as the Chairman of the
Board. Since then, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer is separated and performed by different individuals.

Save for the deviation as mentioned above, in the opinion
of the Directors, the Company was in compliance with all
the relevant code provisions under the CG Code during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEELAHRS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year.

COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing its corporate value. As at
31 December 2022, the Board consisted of seven Directors,
comprising four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. At least one of the independent
non-executive Director possess appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement of the
Listing Rules.

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman) (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 10 February 2022)

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Pan Shimin (appointed as executive Director and
Chairman on 28 January 2022 and
Chief Executive Officer on 10 February 2022 and
resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (appointed as executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)
Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (resigned with effect from
30 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Weijiang

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (appointed on 6 July 2022)
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The Directors’ biographical information are set out in pages
16 to 20 of this annual report. All executive Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board
except Mr. Liu Feng is father of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (both
are former executive Directors).

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration
of interim dividend and making recommendation of
final dividend or other distributions, notifiable and
connected transactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of
the Listing Rules and making recommendation for capital
reorganization or scheme of arrangement of the Company.

The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his/her duties
as a Director may convene, or request the secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to convene,
a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.

The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
Board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.
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During the Year, 21 meetings of the Board were held, XEEEBRT -+ —RESSEH EECE
Directors are provided with relevant information to make BEBMENUFEANBAE EFTENREETE
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the EGXREFZERZLEBBEREINNTE

Board meetings and the Board committees’ meetings is set
out in the table below:

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend
LR/ SERLREZEE

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
BEiy £xg BHZEY HWZEEe Re%ZEE
Executive Directors YiTES
M. Liu Feng (resigned on 28 January 2022) Rt (R E - N/A

(Note 1) —AZ+/\A#D iit1) TR - S S
Mr. Chen Xian RELE 14121 - - -
Mr. Lau Sai Chung At REE FZE-Z N/A

(resigned on 10 February 2022) (Note 2) ZA+HEE (HE2) TER - = =
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang pARE HZF - NA

(resigned on 28 January 2022) (Note 1) —AZ+/\AFE) L) TEA - - -
Mr. Pan Shimin (appointed as executive Director Bt REL4E (R-E-"F—F

and Chairman on 28 January 2022 and ZT\BEZEABTESKE

Chief Executive Officer on 10 February 2022 BRW-E-__E"FE+RHEZ

and resigned as Chief Executive Officer on EATHRERN 228K

17 June 2022) (Note 3) Bt REHETRER) (H3) 1820 - - n
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (appointed as executive BYREE (MZB-"FERB

Director and Chief Executive Officer on T BEZEARTEER

17 June 2022) (Note 5) TBER) (HZ5) 12112 - - -
Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022) iHEE RZE-2F A+HH N/A

(Note 4) BZM) (Hit4) 1313 - TER =
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BRELE (WZEC

(resigned on 6 June 2022) (Note 6) ~ASA#E) (Hite) 25 M 171 1
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen ERAKE BIF-E_C

(resigned with effact from 30 June 2022) NEZTFHEER)

(Note 7) W7) 3/8 22 n n
Mr. Chen Weijiang RELLE 1121 89 N 373
Mr. Lee Chun Tung FEMEE (KZE2Z N/A

(appointed on 17 June 2022) (Note 8) ~ATtHEZE) (11:8) 12112 7 TEH i
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung BRELE (FZFE-Z

(appointed on 6 July 2022) (Note 9) tANHEZE) (9) 1M 7 = =
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Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Liu Zhongxiang resigned on 28 January
2022 and no Board meetings was held during their tenure of
office in 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung resigned on 10 February 2022 and no
Board meetings was held during his tenure of office in 2022.

Mr. Pan Shimin was appointed on 28 January 2022, 20 Board
meetings and 2 Nomination Committee meetings were held
after his appointment.

Mr. To Kwan was appointed on 15 June 2022, 13 Board
meetings and no Remuneration Committee meetings were
held after his appointment.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed on 17 June 2022 and 12
Board meetings were held after his appointment.

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael resigned and ceased to be a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee on 6 June 2022, 5 Board
meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration
Committee meeting and 1 Nomination Committee meeting
were held during his tenure of office in 2022.

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen resigned with effect from
30 June 2022 and ceased to a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2022, 8 Board
meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration
Committee meeting and 1 Nomination Committee were held
during his tenure of office in 2022.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung was appointed on 17 June 2022, 12
Board meetings, 7 Audit Committee meetings, 2 Nomination
Committee meetings and no Remuneration Committee
meeting was held after his appointment.

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung was appointed on 6 July 2022, 11 Board
meetings and 7 Audit Committee meetings were held after his
appointment.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and
activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive a comprehensive induction package covering
business operations, policy and procedures of the Company
as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. The Group
also provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and update all
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to
ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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During the Year, the Directors participated in the
continuous professional developments in relation to

orate Governance Report

EEELRS

REFEE EFEBAUATHASHEEREES
BEZENAB EFZBFABRERTERE

regulatory update, the duties and responsibilities of the BZHBEXERGE .
Directors and the business of the Group in the following
manner:
Attended
Seminars or
Briefing/Read
Materials
Name of Directors 2MANGH
ExH4 mhE BEME
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Liu Feng (resigned on 28 January 2022) Elb= S
R ZEZ—F—F —+/\HEE) N/A 38
Mr. Chen Xian PR & St 4 4
Mr. Lau Sai Chung (resigned on 10 February 2022) BRI E
(R—FE- 4 F+HEHT) N/A N3
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022) 2BMEE
K —EZ_F—HF—+/\HFE) N/A 58 3

Mr. Pan Shimin (appointed as executive Director and
Chairman on 28 January 2022 and Chief Executive
Officer on 10 February 2022 and resigned as
Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (appointed as executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen

(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Chen Weijiang

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (appointed on 6 July 2022)
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EEELAHRS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Feng as Chairman
and Mr. Lau Sai Chung as Chief Executive Officer on 28
January 2022, Mr. Pan Shimin, was appointed as Chairman
of the Board on 28 January 2022, was also the Chief
Executive Officer during the period from 10 February 2022
to 17 June 2022. The Board believed that the aforesaid
arrangement did not impair the balance of power and
authority. The aforesaid deviation from CG Code provision
C.2.1 is rectified upon the appointment of Mr. Cheng
Chi Kin as an executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 17 June 2022 and Mr. Pan Shimin
simultaneously ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer and
remains as the Chairman of the Board. Since then, the role
of chairman and chief executive officer is separated and
performed by different individuals.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years, and subject to re-election on
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”). One of the
independent non-executive Director has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the
annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on such
confirmations, considers all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. On 20 December 2013, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, which has brought it in line with the new
Listing Rules relating to the board diversity with effective
from 1 September 2013. The revised terms of reference
setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. During the Year
and as at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee has the following members:

Members

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (Chairman)
(ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (ceased on 6 June 2022)
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Pan Shimin (Chairman)
(appointed on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
(appointed on 17 June 2022)

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identifying qualified individuals
to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to
the Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination
of Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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During the Year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee to recommend the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to review the size, structure, composition as well
as diversity of the Board, and to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy to
ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group has
achieved the objectives of the board diversity policy during
the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
with the written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference setting out
the Remuneration Committee's authority, duties and
responsibilities are available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it
performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. During the Year and as at the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee has the
following members:

Members

Mr. Chen Weijiang (Chairman)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (ceased on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management, and reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the Year, two meetings of Remuneration Committee were
held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and
structure for as well as the remuneration packages of all
Directors and the senior management. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. On 1 January 2019, the Board adopted a set of
the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
which has brought it in line with the requirement of the
Listing Rules. The revised terms of reference setting out
the Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities
are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. During the year and as at the date of
this annual report, the Audit Committee has the following
members:

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chairman)
(ceased on 6 June 2022)
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (Chairman)
(appointed on 6 July 2022)
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
(appointed on 17 June 2022)

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

EEELRS

EEME2HFzBEII NG BRERME
120 E/\\ZIKEFE_ %ﬁ@‘“é E%Tﬁ)\auﬁ’
B (HPaE) gt dsr s 2BEETRER

EEEZFNER X RFMNES -BIESE
E2TEELATZME-

BZEEY
ARBMIUBEREEGULBTEEELTH
SIUEERELE - R _FT-AhF—-—HF—8>
EFERMERZE SN —RIBELEZ
B HERLELTRAZBE - HAEBZLEE
RN BEREEZEETRELE TN K
NEPUERERPABUEER RAEAFERRE
FROMP BEREEGRBFUTHE

BRELE (F/E)
(R ZFEZ ZFNNAHNHAZLE)
ﬁf%ﬁ?ﬁi(i/‘_v__fﬁ/\ﬁ—/—fﬂ L IF)
BRELAE (FEFE)
(R —EFEZ_—Ft+tHNNHEZF)
PRET A E
THEPEE
(RZEZZFNNA+tHEZE)

BERZESTTBZEEMIIBREMZEME
Hs&ﬁbﬁaﬁ%$§1’ﬁﬁkm’I%Ttt%Hﬂ?%(
Bl 2 B <2 2 BS AR 1R 7k > DA SR 2 A% BB 2 Y A
HEREMZARNSEE , BERATHRS - FR
REEERE  URERMHFHRREFREE
ERBREERANIEERKZ BRI

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

31



32

Corporate Governance Report

EEELAHRS

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings
and performed the following work:

1. Financial Reporting
o reviewed the unaudited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 in conjunction with the
external auditor;

o reviewed the accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group with
the management of the Company and the
Company’s auditor;

o reviewed the auditing and financial reporting
matters, including the key audit matters of
the unconsolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021;

o reviewed the audit planning for the Year in
conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditors
o reviewed the fees charged by the externals
auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu (the former auditor resigned on 17
August 2022) and McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited who was appointed on 9
September 2022);

o approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor with
reference to the Guidelines for Effective
Audit Committees — Section, Appointment
and Reappointment of Auditors published by
Financial Report Council;
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3. Internal Audit
° reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
audit functions of the Group; and

4, Risk Management and Internal Controls
o reviewed the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditors and all senior management of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

All members of the Board are responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions. The terms of reference
of corporate governance functions was adopted by the
Board on 29 March 2012 and is in compliance with the CG
Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the policy
of the corporate governance and the corporate governance
report of the Company.

DIRECTOR’S NOMINATION POLICY

The Director’'s nomination policy of the Company was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 1 January
2019 and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and headhunters.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by shareholders
of the Company through formal procedures set out in
the Company’s Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director.
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For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board's consideration
and approval. For proposing director candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents and
candidates nominated by shareholders of the Company are
evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the
director’s qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of
such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board rather
than on the individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of director candidates
by the Nomination Committee to stand for election
at any general meeting. The Board will take such
recommendations under advisement and is responsible
for designating the director candidates to be elected at
the annual general meeting of the Company and electing
directors to fill Board vacancies.

Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the director
candidate, evaluate such director candidate based on
the criteria as set out below to determine whether such
director candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each director candidate (where
applicable).
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For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
director candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting by
serving a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.

Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors including their attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring Directors continue to meet
the criteria as set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Directors at the general
meeting.

EEELRS

ERAEERREEMNEIATRRAE L
BREFNAT RREZEERKEUTIA
MEAFEZEFHREA LUREZESFHEE
ARECEREFRESR TH RER2RZEEK
SREEERIN KRR LERERES

MARRELEZ (WEA) -

EFHEEATRRRERERTEEMF KA
ARBACIMEHLEEENRE-

AEELLHRRBRA ®REBALTFAIRRK
HEEEFgHEERR ARG LB E-

RIRREXRE LEREZNERF

RLZEQRBNRIESHALRTNER
BERMERT BEEAHEEFEEZRREX
TUWER MHEXR UREESEN2HRE
ERkzRR-

h%ﬁﬁ TEENREEREEETESMD
AT AL THIBRREL -

RBVZEER /NEFTTRUNKREARG L
EREEESNRREHESR-

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

35



36

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(@) the highest personal and professional ethics and
integrity;

(b) proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

(0) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are
complementary to those of the existing Board;

(d) the ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
SuCcess;

(e) the contribution on diversity of the Board and any
measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination
Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

(f) an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board and
the commitment of time and energy necessary to
diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

(9) meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is
in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum
criteria for director candidate, although the Nomination
Committee may also consider such other factors as it may
deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 20 December 2013, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, professional experience, term HEE= BEK!

ZzZ b =2

of appointment and designation) of the Board is as follows:

RAERSAH EFCEN (BFE%H - FE
EEHARER MT

No. of Director

BEAH
Age group: 41 to 50 3
FHe 4R - A1 E505%
51 to 60 4
51ZE605%
Gender: Male 7
MR 3
Female 0
Z
Educational background: Hong Kong and Macau 2
HEES BHE R
The PRC 2
FRE
Overseas 3
g4
Length of service (year): Below 1 4
ARFS IR () : TELR
1-5 2
1255
6-10 0
6E 105
Over 10 1
105U E
Designation: Executive Director 4
5 HITES
Independent Non-executive Director 3

BIIFRITES
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For the purpose of implementation of the Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company shall comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry on which
the business of the Group is.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the
Policy.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed
by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited.
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The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provided by external auditor is set

out in the following table:

SNEERZBEMFT IR M Z A E LB KR IFZ RS
ZEN /BN ZERBHEHIN TR :

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FRr g (AR 7S B2t ENER
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
BEZE-—F ®BEZ-—F
+—-_BA=+—H +=-HA=+—H
IFEE EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT 5T
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =) e BER T 51T
— Audit services —Z B IR - 2,150
— Non-audit services —IERZERTS
Interim review RERER RS = 615
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) B (&8) Bste=HBm
CPA Limited BRAF 1,300 1,000
— Non-audit services —IERZERTS
Interim review AR RS 300 =
Total fee paid/payable B Iz EREH 1,600 3,765
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary
is subject to the Board’s approval in accordance with the
Articles. Mr. Fu Lui ("Mr. Fu”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary since 2 July 2010. Mr. Fu resigned as
the Company Secretary with effect from 10 February 2022.
Mr. Lam Tsz Chung (“Mr. Lam”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary with effect from 10 February 2022 and
resigned on 6 June 2022.

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services
Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance and full range
of company secretarial services to the Group in order to
assist the Group to cope with the changing regulatory
environment and to suit different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative
of Uni-1, was appointed as the named Company Secretary
on 6 June 2022.

Ms. Chan has complied with the requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person at the Company for the
Company Secretary is Mr. To Kwan, an executive Director
of the Company, in relation to any corporate secretarial
matters.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements at the end of the
Year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for the
Year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the Year, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditor of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 105 to 112 of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
sound and effective risk management and internal controls
are maintained, while the management of the Company
is charged with the responsibility to design and implement
an internal control system to manage risks. A sound system
of risk management and internal controls is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework of
the Group

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal controls and reviewing its
effectiveness. The Audit Committee supports the Board
in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures, the design and
operating effectiveness of the underlying risk management
and internal control systems. The management of the
Company assesses and presents regular reports to the
Audit Committee on its own assessments of key risks, the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
systems, with action plans to address the weaknesses.
External auditor also reports on any control issues identified
in the course of its work. Taking these into consideration,
the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of risk management and internal
controls, and reports to the Board on such reviews. Work
and findings of the management of the Company are
considered by the Board in forming its own view on the
effectiveness of the system.

The Group persistently engages independent professional
team and internal team in performing internal audit work
after considering the independence, flexibility, and overall
efficiency.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Systems and
Procedures

Control Environment — The Group has been operating
under an established and appropriate control environment
with reference to principles of “Internal Control and
Risk Management — A Basis Framework” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Risk management and internal controls cover effective
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

Risk Assessment — The Group continues to drive
improvements to its risk management process and the
quality of risk information generated, while at the same
time maintaining a simple and practical approach. We seek
to have risk management features embedded within our
operations, aiming to have a risk management system that
is practised on a day-to-day basis by our operating units.

The Board reviews and understands the risk factors of the
Group and operations annually, and the management of
the Company continuously monitors the scope and quality
of ongoing risk management and internal control systems.
The "Top-down” monitoring ensures risk management
features embedded within the operations and operated
effectively.

Meanwhile, the heads of operation units participate in
risk identification from “Bottom-up” so as to identify the
Group's overall risks.

Control Activities — The Group's core property
development business and trading of raw sugar involve
well-established business processes. Control activities have
traditionally been built on top-level reviews, segregation
of duties and physical controls. We have been formalizing
and documenting the control processes in policies and
procedures. Written policies and procedures with defined
limits of delegated authority are in place, which facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Planning and budgeting processes are one of key control
activities of the Group, which have been refined to
take into consideration risk factors. All operating units
prepare their respective operating plans pursuant to
corporate objectives for consideration. In this process,
they are required to identify material risks that may
impact the achievement of their business objectives.
Action items to mitigate the identified risks are developed
for implementation as well as for achieving the budget
and business objectives. Variance analyses are regularly
performed and reported to the management of the
Company and the Board. These help identify deficiencies
and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Capital expenditures monitoring is also significant to the
capital-intensive nature of the property business of the
Group. Depending on the nature and the size of the
projects, detailed analyses of expected capital expenditures
are submitted to the heads of operating units, executive
Directors or the Board for consideration and approval.

Monitoring Activities — The Board and Audit Committee
oversee the process, monitored by internal and external
professionals of the Group. The management of the
Company has emphasized in its updated reports to
the Audit Committee on movements of top risks and
appropriate mitigating measures. There is at least one Audit
Committee meeting substantially devoted to risks items.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

In handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

will conduct immediate dissemination once inside
information is available and/or respective decision is
made, except the inside information falling into the
Safe Harbours of Securities and Futures Commission
that allow non-disclosure;

- complies with applicable laws, rules and guidelines
on disclosure of inside information issued by
Securities and Futures Commission;

- decides and implements monitoring procedures
regarding dissemination of inside information; and

- communicates with relevant persons about
corporate information disclosure practices with
respective training.

REVIEW ON EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
IN 2022

The Company engaged an independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to review the internal
control systems of the Group. The IC Consultant had
provided the Board with suggestions to improve the
Group’s internal control systems. The Board had adopted
the suggestions and implemented relevant internal control
management policies and measures, particularly those for
conflict of interests, connected and notifiable transactions
with training to the Board. The IC Consultant was then
satisfied with the result after the implementation of the
policies and measures, and believes that the Group's
internal control management system has been improved,
and there are no major risks or concerns in the Group’s
internal control system.
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PAS- ~ << A H
TEELRIRS
RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICES HEREER
Group's Risk Factors TEERBREE

RRBEESHOER IMALBRTHBEE
B Al AZ B R EAR R MU 58 L B B 90 fa] BE
FEMmEREt TRELTAERHETES
REBNEE XA BREINBFRAERERN

As a basis of risk management, we should understand the
Group's existing risk factors and respective change from
time to time. Listed below are the nature of significant risk
factors that the Group is facing, whilst the listed factors will

not be exclusive: BB
Risk factors B E1E

48

The Group may be unable to sell property
investment at expected prices or terms due to
volatility in the property market of the PRC.

The Group is required to comply with numerous
government rules and new regulations to be
promulgated from time to time, and may be
affected by tightening measures launched by the
PRC government for regulating the real estate
industry.

The business of the Group may be significantly
affected if the engaged external construction
contractors encounter any problem during
development of property given our full reliance on
them to conduct all the construction projects.

Principal revenues and expenses of the Group -
Property development business are denominated
in Renminbi. Investors may indirectly invest in
the assets denominated in Renminbi. If Renminbi
weakens against Hong Kong dollars, the asset value
of the shares denominated in Hong Kong dollars will
decline.

Implementation fluency and efficiency of exchange
control of the PRC will mitigate the ability of the
Group's fund transfer.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation.
A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board on 29 March 2012 aiming at providing the
shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of
the Company. The Company also uses various other
means of communication with its shareholders, such as
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements,
circulars and additional information on the Group's
business activities and development on the Company's
website: www.chinauptown.com.hk.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the
Board or the Company Secretary may be sent by post to
the Company’s head office and principal place of business
at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is
subject to the decision of the Board after considering the
Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend
upon, among other things:

the Group's financial results;

o the Group's cash flow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

o the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level,

o the accumulated profits and distributable reserves of
the Group;

° the Group's shareholders’ interests;

o the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
° the general market conditions;

o the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Laws of Cayman Islands and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
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The Board may also consider declaring special dividends
from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final
dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
one or more shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company and the
securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower 1, Silvercord,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Procedures for putting forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower
1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business at Suite 1501, 15/F., Tower 1, Silvercord, 30
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or send
email to info@chinauptown.com.hk.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there is no change in the Company's
constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

Acknowledging the globally growing concern about
sustainability, the Group, as a socially responsible property
developer operating in China, is committed to operating
in an environmentally and socially responsible manner to
produce long-term value.

Reporting Guidelines

This is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report of China Uptown Group Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). This report outlines the efforts the Group has
made to address ESG related risks and opportunities in its
property development business, which accounts for the
majority of its environmental impacts.

Reporting Scope and Period

The report covers ESG performance of the Hong Kong
office and property development business in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") for the period from 1st January
2022 to 31st December 2022.
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RIB LB RERHRS

Feedback

The Group continues to enhance and expand its ESG
disclosures. We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on
the report and any suggestions on sustainability-
related matters. You may share your thoughts at:
info@chinauptown.com.hk.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board of Directors oversees management of key
risks associated with environment, talent acquisition,
product quality and safety, and customer satisfaction,
as well as deciding ESG-related strategic directions.
Senior management is in-charge of material ESG topics
identification, and various departments are responsible for
implementation of ESG-related measures in the course of
daily operations.

The Board of Directors examines the progress on
environmental objectives on a regular basis to ensure that
the environmental impact of the Company’s operations
is being addressed effectively. The Company's Board of
Directors confirms that it has studied and approved the
report.

Stakeholder Engagement & Materiality

We engage with internal as well as external stakeholders,
including employees, shareholders, customers, sub-
contractors and the local community, and identify topics
that generate significant impact to the environment, the
economy and the society. The identified material topics
are occupational health and safety, product quality,
environmental management and anti-corruption. ESG-
related risks that are relevant to the Group are identified
and prioritized based on the likelihood of occurrence,
followed by the Board’s evaluation and approval, to
manage risks to the business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Being a responsible company that abides by governmental
initiatives, the Group is dedicated to managing
and monitoring its environmental impacts. An ISO
14001-certified Environmental Management System
("EMS") is in place, led by the senior management and
backed by the environmental protection and monitoring
team. Environmental technicians of the Group are
competent to keep track of its environmental performance.

In addition to internal management, the environmental
protection department communicates closely with
outsourced contractors and suppliers working on our
construction projects. Regular checks are conducted to
assess the green practices they follow and mitigation
measures they implement on various parameters, including
air emissions, waste and noise. Besides maintaining
environmental performance, efforts are also made to
reduce the potential environmental impacts to the extent
possible.

To conform with the relevant national standards through
the building design and construction stages, the Group
continues to commission a qualified inspection and
testing organisation to conduct an environmental impact
assessment covering noise, air pollutants and sewage.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations' that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

! List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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RIB LB RERHRS

Climate Change

We are concerned about the likelihood of climate change
having an impact on our operations. Extreme weather
events, such as typhoons and floods, might disrupt our
everyday operations. The Group is committed to managing
the climate change risks of its operations and formulates
strategies in accordance with industry practices to mitigate
the impacts of climate change on its operations and
increase its resilience.

A Climate Change Policy has been formulated, which
lists actions required and taken for addressing climate
change. To ensure that relevant information and resources
are available for monitoring and regularly reviewing the
impact of climate change on its employees and business
operations, the Group periodically reviews its climate
change policy.
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Risks/Opportunities

Potential Financial Impacts

Our Actions in 2022

Physical Risks
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Acute Frequent Extreme ¢ Reduced revenue from Assessment
Weather decreased production capacity e Conduct emergency drills
e Increased capital costs (e.g., and specialised training for
damage to facilities and employees concerned
structures)
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Disclosure
e Conduct regular checks to
access green practices
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Implementation
e Switch to electric vehicles by
2030
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Our Actions in 2022
KN _—_EBE__EWTE

Risks/Opportunities Potential Financial Impacts
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Market Changing customer e Reduced demand for products Implementation
behaviour due to shift in consumer e Optimise energy efficiency
preferences and reduce energy
consumption in property
management
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Reputation Increased stakeholder Reduced revenue from Implementation
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e |Implement energy-saving
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Energy Consumption

Operations of the Group consume petrol and electricity
while no Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG”) was used this
year. During the reporting period, the Group consumed
approximately 1,951 gigajoules (“GJ”) of energy, with
energy intensity of 0.61 GJ per square metre of floor area.?

Total Energy consumption (GJ)
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Carbon Emissions

The Group's operations emit greenhouse gases (“GHG")
directly (Scope 1) and indirectly (Scope 2). Direct emissions
refer to GHG emissions from combustion of petrol by
its vehicles while indirect emissions are from purchased
electricity. During the reporting period, the total GHG
emissions amounted to 251.3 tons of carbon dioxide
equivalent (“tCOze"). There were about 64.4 tCO2e Scope
1 and 186.9 tCO2e Scope 2 emissions, with emission
intensity of 0.08 tCO2e per square metre of floor area.

2 Floor area includes offices of the Group in Hong Kong and the
PRC.
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To address the growing impact of climate change, we
strive to optimise energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption in both office operations and property
management. While the Group aims to fully switch to
electric vehicles by 2030 and ensure 100% of its electrical
appliances have energy-saving labels by 2025, various
energy conserving initiatives have been incorporated
in agreements with service providers in the property
development sector, making certain their operations are
compliant with our environmental protection policies and
guidelines.

Air Emissions

Petrol consumption is a result of increased use of vehicles
for site visits, resulting in emissions of approximately 0.36
kg of sulphur oxides (SOx), 25.92 kg of nitrogen oxides
(NOx) and 2.3 kg of particulate matter (PM) during the
reporting period. Sprinklers and protective nets are used at
the construction sites to reduce flying dust generated by
machinery and vehicles.

Solid Waste

The Group’s businesses resulted in

generation of 7.5 tonnes of non- EEEEEY) (M)
hazardous waste during the reporting
period. 10 —

To facilitate solid waste reduction,
environmental protection department
of the Group has set up a centralised
waste collection point to stimulate
recycling of construction waste and
encourage employees to adopt green
office measures for paper waste
reduction, with a target to gradually
move towards 100% paper recycling.
Operations of the Group do not
generate hazardous waste and 2020
packaging materials waste.
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RIF- B RERHRS

Noise 1BE

Construction work results in generation of considerable BREIRBRELABRERA ALV ERRE
noise and its control is important for the Company. Our B BMARDHHENR ATFREBEARIEE E
contractors are bound to work during permitted hours only, MEEXRBILER KRS RHEREM KR
manage transportation vehicles effectively, adopt sound KRG LURL D S BIE N IE S ©

insulation and vibration reduction measures and set up

greening areas to diminish noise from vehicles.

Water Consumption KIHFE

The Group used 2,914 cubic Water Consumption (m3) REEHEAR NEBRY
metres (m3) of municipal water 7KE#E (LA K) EHERPBATES AR
in property development and MEAE2,914 F K™
office operations during the 30,000 — BAK AKEBEENRS

reporting period, and its intensity
was about 0.91 m? per square
metre of floor area. There were
no issues on sourcing water that
is fit for the purpose. The Group
is targeted to achieve 100%
compliant discharge.

As a water conservation initiative,
the Group operates temporary
water treatment facilities for
filtering and reusing water at
construction sites. To this end,
all water used for construction

projects is treated prior to discharge.

28,907 TAKBREERE0.917A

25,000 — ¥ o 7E SR B3 A kB E i

EIMEAE A EEWE

20,000 — EEERERRER A
15,000 —
10,000 —

@FL%IW@ i B B 5

0 KERIEELH > LB IE KRB

20N ém1 _ 20 BREK-EBIL BRIR

—RRE R R R F pampiucaEel

] o
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RIF- G RERHRS

OUR PEOPLE & COMMUNITY

China Uptown believes its success is built upon its
employees’ dedication and competency. As such,
promotion and rewards are offered based solely on
expertise, contribution, performance and experience. As
an equal opportunity employer, we strive to nurture a
diverse and inclusive work environment where any form of
harassment or discrimination is not tolerated. Should there
be any discriminatory conduct, staff should report to the
senior management for further action.

As of 31st December 2022, the Group had a total of 53
employees. Employee composition by geographic region,

HANABRME

PR ERERECERNELIETEENHER
FENERE-EIL  HMERTEA MR
ZEREEENERE B EXERKER 1A
TFEHERE BRARNINREEFZTEARNT
EIRE  HBEAFE BB R R o 8 IR
FEAERTA ETERASKEEBRRUF

REE—D T8

BE_T__F+"RA=+—H AEEHHE
S3%EE - RHME - Fie - MR KBS DK

age, gender and position is shown as below: BEAMRM T :
Age Gender
FHe 31
53%
74%
® <30 30-50 ® >51 Male @ Female
s pegis
Geographical Distribution Education Background Employee Category
& 73 HEER BE %5
43%
72%
Mainland China De giree or above ,lylan?%ement
e 123 REFI B
@ Hong Kong @ High sc hool or below ® Front line
) = EP AN AR A B
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Turnover and New Hire Rates by Age

BRERBDIRKRERABLER

> - o, P
20 —
15 —
10 —
-
0% 0% 0%
0
Below 30 30to 50 51 or above
30U yearsold 51l E
305% E505%

New Hire Rate

WELLX

Il Turnover Rate

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations?
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

The Group is not prone to a high risk of child or forced
labour. Yet, we do stay vigilant about preventing
recruitment of child or forced labour and verify the age of
applicants to make sure they are not underage. During the
year, we were not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations having a significant impact on the Group
relating to employment and labour practices; nor did we
come across any incidents relating to the use of child or
forced labour.

2 List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

RIB LB RESHRS

Turnover and New Hire Rates by Gender

RIERIE D ERKR R R LE R

8% 8%

7%

Male Female
h

New Hire Rate

WELEX

Il Turnover Rate
TMAE

BREMBEA > ZEBLRANBEMERE R
MkERE -BERET TEFHBRHF
FHE-Z T REGUKRHEMTEKREF
THAEEBEERZENHERERER

AEBRBENEINRFISTIEBRAS -BE
gt HANFRFEG  BRBEEE T 358
55 T o I A% B KB & F B DUFE fR B 36 9F 2K A%
Fo-FR  RMABAINTERAERF LEE
HEAEBEREARTEN TN ERRER
WERBR FARERBMERZE T RGH
THERSEH-

: AR RERIIREIOERER -
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RIB LB RERHRS

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to occupational
health and safety. In order to minimise occupational health
and safety risk, we require contractors to strictly comply
with our well-defined safety policies at construction sites, in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.*

During the construction process, supervisory engineers
collaborate with contractors to monitor performance in
respect of adherence to safety practices. Contractors are
required to prepare emergency action plans and install
necessary equipment and mitigate any safety hazards.
Before construction work commences, contractors
are required to submit a safety measures plan to the
supervising engineer of the Group for approval.

No work-related fatalities were recorded during the year. To
raise safety awareness, we regularly organise safety training
for employees. In 2022, a total of 384 person times of
safety training were recorded.

Total Safety Training Hours

TR 4R L

1,200 —

1,000 —
800 —
600 —
400 —
200 —

0

2021
—ET 5

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations® that have a significant impact relating to
providing a safe working environment and protection of
employees from occupational hazards during the year.

P List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Training and Development

China Uptown spares no effort to help its employees
excel and thrive by providing inspiring opportunities for
professional development. Various kinds of training is
therefore delivered to employees across all levels, including
directors, senior management and frontline staff. On top of
organizing mandatory training to update employees about
the latest trends in laws and regulations, we continue
to explore development opportunities that support the
employees to meet operational needs.

Enhancing the capability and competency of our sales team
is crucial. As such, we have formulated comprehensive
training plans for sales employees. During the vyear,
professional training focusing on various skills and
knowledge as outlined below was provided. We strive to
equip employees with a thorough understanding of the
market and pave the way to reach sales targets.

Personal skills trainings 1E A $% 8E =3I

e Professional qualities of a salesperson
e Sales mentality

e Conflicts resolution

e Sales elite training

RIB LB RERHRS

1R 3 R

hE EMEMHS ARENREERKT 1B
ERERAME RIFRI B MR
EX SREEEMRNBEIZESRESREM
BREIRE - FEPAFIEIUERERERR
RHGERZEREBRIN RAFEREREMN®
RETEZEFRNERKE -

RARMBEEBRENENNKTERER
I HMEAEERENEZEEBIGE - F
o R T XS ERERANHREHE
EEI BNIRNBREXDTHRTS HER
HEERBTER-

HEABHEXERE

o HE AR
o BIRRRIE
o SHERBRIE

e Project and sales management
e Property delivery
e Issues on railways around properties

e Sustaining customer relationships
¢ Handling disagreements with customers

Customers relationship trainings % 5 B {& i3

o HE KM E R
o YRR AT
o 1) 25 By 3T S8 B I RE

o R PR
s RIEREFR DI
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RIB LB RERHRS

In 2022, 46% of male employees and 60% of female
employees received training, while 17% of managerial staff
and 80% of frontline employees were trained. The average
training hours completed per employee was 3.7 hours
during the year.

Community Involvement

The Group is keen to fulfil its corporate social responsibility
and actively participates in community services wherever
appropriate and financially feasible. Looking ahead, we
would continue to explore opportunities for collaborations
with third parties in community contribution.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The Group strives to adopt the industry best practices in
the property development business. We aim at maintaining
high standards in goods and services we provide. We do
this through active supply chain management and product
assurance.

Supplier Management

To ensure delivery of high-quality products, the Group
maintains a stable and close relationship with its business
partners and customers.

Selection of suppliers and contractors is in accordance
with a list of key criteria, including track record, financial
strength, quality standards, ESG performance and ethical
integrity. To fulfill our commitments in quality control,
social and environmental responsibility, internationally
recognised certifications such as I1SO 9001, I1SO 14001 and
OHSAS 18001 are also highly valued and considered in
the selection process. In 2022, the Group worked with 2
suppliers, all from mainland China.

The Group continuously engages with its suppliers and
contractors and enters into well-defined agreements and
contracts to maintain the quality of goods and services.
Terms and conditions listed in contracts ensure all suppliers
meet the required standards. We also regularly monitor and
evaluate their performances, which are recorded for future
screening processes.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Aligning with our corporate values, contractors are required
to fulfill their respective corporate responsibilities. Regarding
environmental obligations, agreements are made with
contractors to minimise construction disturbance and potential
risks caused to nearby communities. To maintain occupational
safety and quality, provision of worker training and
establishment of quality award system are also encouraged,
for achieving high standards of contractual requirements.

Product Responsibility

As a responsible property developer, the Group is
committed to offering products and services of top-class
quality and great user experience. To assure product quality,
we enhance performance of our contractors by following
comprehensive selection and approval processes. Inspection
and evaluation of quality are based on criteria such as
construction standards, hygienic and safety conditions, etc.

Product Assurance

The Group maintains close relationships with its contractors
and ensures quality assurance throughout the construction
period. Before construction commencement, our
contractors establish specialised construction management
agencies in-charge of on-site operations and conditions.
Construction permit and commencement report are
obtained upon setting up supervision procedures.

RIB LB RERHRS

BREMVEXEESR HEBEABRTEERN
TESEZ-REREEHFMs  RMERKOBHE
pihE BRIER VHBBLREMBERBRE
REBERARE HREREZEREE HAMAR
BRRHEIAEIRRIESRBET  UEE
FRKENGHNEK-

=
2]}

i

il

£

FREaEENYERER AEEAERMED
B-—RNERKRGUREENBRER &
BREREE RMBRABTEENRERS
HABRAXEERE - RARBEERER
BRhFEEE INEREE - FERZER

M e

EmRiE

FEERRKOHERETRGA BREERZE
BERNEEMRE IR AN KE®H L
HFNEREERB a5 REEE RN -
FIEEERFR ESHIFAERAIR

H
= ©

Quality assurance in construction projects

BETRREERE

Contractors A B &

e Make agreements with the Group
regarding construction standards
FIRERE AR E B EN H &

e Set up supervision procedures of
high quality and safety standards
REBRMBERZERENGE
2

e Establish management agencies in

charge of daily operations
MIBESHESNEIEHE

|

The Group &% E

e Ensure standards are met upon
project completion
ERERERET

e Assign supervisory engineers who
are responsible for monitoring
and addressing onsite operational

issues
HZREEETIEMa SRR NERE
IR E B E

Government Departments B fF BP9

e Perform inspection on standards including
safety and environmental standards
T e RIRIRIREFIRAE
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RIB LB RERHRS

A number of environmental protection, safety and quality
control measures are planned and implemented under
the supervision of designated engineers. In case of any
defects being identified during construction, we work
with contractors for taking appropriate actions followed
by immediate re-examination. Upon completion of a
project, it is ensured that it meets all national and provincial
standards.

Customer satisfaction

The Group enhances customer satisfaction by continuous
and ongoing engagement with customers and providing
responsive services. We endeavor to disclose all necessary
information to customers in order to help them make
informed purchase decisions. Customer satisfaction
is maintained in cooperation with qualified property
management companies. Customers are also encouraged
to provide feedback via our communication channels.
Looking ahead, we would continue to review our
performance and make improvements based on customers’
feedback.

Code of Conduct

The Group places great importance on upholding the
highest standards of ethics, honesty, openness and
accountability in the workplace. Employees at all levels
are expected to follow the stringent code of conduct with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

Data privacy

Customer information privacy and rights are protected by
adhering to relevant laws and regulations.® While every
effort is made for managing information disclosure of
projects, identity of employees is not divulged without their
consent, under normal circumstances. During the year, we
were not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

4 List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Anti-corruption

The Group regards ethical integrity as the foundation
of its success. In compliance with relevant laws and
regulations,” we strictly prohibit any form of corruption
including improper transfer of benefits and other unethical
behaviours on part of employees.

The Group

EE

Anti-
Corruption
Policy

R&E5

g

Employees

Suppliers B2

IRIG B RERERS

RES

AEBREEARARINER KMEFE
iR ER BEEESFAHBEETAER
NETTA BEFAEMNaHEREMBESE
BmHITA-

e Ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations
M RETHEBDERRIER

e Conduct investigations on suspected cases of misconduct
HELAETHAREMARAL

e Take disciplinary actions and inform responsible public regulatory bodies
where necessary

REGCREDERT AL ERBNTEEEEM

e Conduct selection based on past records of ethical integrity
B S iR EITERE

e Sign contracts or agreement with the Group

B G B %5

CESEAE

e Undergo regular anti-corruption training
TR RE5E

1EE e Report suspected cases to senior managers as encouraged under the
whistle-blowing mechanism

RIBRME T A SR EIEERRELUEZ

For prevention of any misconduct, employees are
encouraged to report suspected cases of corruption
using our whistleblowing mechanism. Disciplinary actions
including termination are taken when a malpractice or
misconduct offence are proven after due and diligent
investigations. Offences are also reported to appropriate
authorities if there is any evidence of criminal activities in
breach of legal and regulatory requirements. During the
year, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

g List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

HEMEEAETR RAXBEEERSER
HHERRUE SER - EERAERIER
EEILEBET AT ETHBIIET  FHRIL
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RIF- G RERHRS

APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS BERERRER

Laws and Regulations Section

ERRER =1: 1]
Emissions o Environmental Protection Law of the PRC Environmental

Management

BEB) . (PE ANRHENBRIRIEREE) RIEEE

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air

Pollution
. (PEAREMNBEARRSERBEEZE)
o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of

Water Pollution

. (FREAREMBKBEPRAEZE)

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes

. (PEARANBEEREY) S RIRE G E)

o Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment

. (REARENBEIRGZETEE)
Use of Resources o Law of the PRC on Conserving Energy Environmental

Management

BIREA . (PEE AR HEMBEEHAI8ERZE) RIREHE
Employment o Labor Law of the PRC Our People & Community
2= . (REARENMESEE) RPN E T RtE

o Labor Contract Law of the PRC

. (PEARENEZESREE)

o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor

. (BIEFERETRE)

o Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

. BE(EEEAD
Health and Safety o Production Safety Law of the PRC Health and Safety
EREZE . (PEARENBEZZEEZE) REREAZ S
Product Responsibility o Regulations on the Quality Management of Product Responsibility

Construction Projects

EmEE . (BRI EEEEERM)D EmEE
Anti-corruption o Criminal Law of the PRC Anti-corruption
R&=s . (PZEANRHMBEFED k&5

o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong

. BBy LR IRA)
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R ERESHRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY BUBERE

Employee Total Headcount 53 55
(== A
By Geographical Distribution
e upE N il
Mainland China 38 40
e NS
Hong Kong 15 15
BHE
Total 53 55
ARst
By Age
B Ehe
<30 8 7
<305%
31-50 39 42
31-50%%
>50 6 6
>505%
By Gender
il
Male 28 27
B4
Female 25 28
gl
By Educational Background
RYBEE=
Degree or above 49 55
REBFU L
High school or below 4 0
SISV
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By Employee Category
BB T 55
Management
EEE

Front line
Al 4R
Employee Turnover Rate
BT mAR
By Age
REHE

<30

<305%

31-50
31-508%

>50

>508%

By Gender

e geill

Male

Sk

Female

pegi
Employee New Hire Rate
METABX
By Age
REH

<30

<305%

31-50
31-508%

>50

>507%
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R ERESHRS

By Gender

oo gedill

Male 0% 0%
S

Female 8% 15%
e

Percentage of Employees Trained

ZIBETHLE

By Gender

gl

Male 46% 33%
L

Female 60% 86%
pegia

By Employee Category

BB T85!

Management 17% 13%
=il

Front line 80% 94%
Al 4R

Average training hours 3.7 17.8
T EIE

By Gender

teeguill

Male 1.8 11
Lk

Female 5.9 24
pegis

By Employee Category

BB T85!

Management 1.3 4
SIEE

Frontline 5.6 28
Al 4R

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED E LifsEARAR 73
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT__FF#



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE- B KREGHRS

Safety Safety Performance

Z% Z2RE
Work-related injuries 0 0
I
Lost days due to work injuries 0 0
HIEERIEEH
Work related fatalities 0 0
BT FARARN A S
Training on Occupational Health and Safety
B EEEZ2E
Total person-times training 384 480
(EPNEEH R
Total training hours 1,152 1,008
AR o) B 8K

Environment Total Resources Consumption

RiE BIRHERE
Electricity (kwWh) 327,696 396,634
B (TERE)
LPG (kg) - -
RICE#BR (AFT)
Petrol (litre) 24,200 44,400
ol (RF)
Total energy consumption (GJ) 1,951 2,893
HEEFE (F5)
Total energy intensity (GJ/m? floor area) 0.61 1.99
REREE (& /S§TH K- BEEH
Water (m?) 2,914 13,862
K QLA K)
Water intensity (m*/m? floor area) 0.91 9.68
KBE QULAK/ BFEAK—BRERR)
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R ERESHRS

Greenhouse Gases Emissions

mE R

GHG emissions (tCOze) 251.3 4371
BRERBHNR E_StkER)

Scope | (tCOze) 64.4 118.1
#HE— (E_ELRES

Scope Il (tCO2e) 186.9 319.0
HEZ MW_FRES

Emission intensity (tCO2e/m?2 floor area) 0.08 0.31

BMEE WM_atiEE ST K—EEER
Air Pollutants from Vehicles
BEZERITHY
NOX (kg) 25.92 47.10
aga1ty (=)
SOx (kg) 0.36 0.65
ey (A )
PM (kg) 2.3 4.17
RE BN (R T)
Waste
BEYD
General waste (Tonnes) 7.50 8.10
— AR EEYD (ME)
Community Donation (RMB’000) 0 0
e BERAREBTT)
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IRIE- B KREGHRS

ESG CONTENT INDEX RIB-HEREEGNBRSI
KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

AR SR ERAMTAIRE - HEREARGIESIER EE/fEE

Governance structure

AWE

(=

General disclosure A statement from the Board containing the following BOARD STATEMENT
elements:
(i) a disclosure of the Board's oversight of ESG issues;

(ii) the Board's ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to
the issuer's businesses); and

(i) how the Board reviews progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

— Rk HEFEFLNER ERFHE FIARS !

) HEEFGHRE HERELREENEGE;

(il EFFNRE-HERELEERHRERE SFT
E BRI AREEREENRRE - HEREREMSE
B (BEHETAEBNER B2 ; &

(i) BEBFFNARIRRE -HERELAEAEREAES
I AR PN B 3T AR RE

e
it
il
%4
N
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KPIs

R AR RIS 1R

Reporting principles
EER R A

General disclosure

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG

report:

a)

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the
process to identify and the criteria for the selection of
material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement
is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s
stakeholder engagement.

Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

This report is prepared in

compliance with the
ESG Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix
27 to the Main Board
Listing Rules and
Guidance published by
the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing

b) Quantitative: Information on the standards, Rules”). Reporting
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools principles of Materiality,
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the Quantitative, Balance
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where and Consistency are
applicable), should be disclosed. applied in preparation

Q) Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG of this report.

report any changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any

other relevant factors affecting meaningful comparison.
B REERERRE LS REARSHUAEA TIE RREHEREBIAT
HRIRA P ZE R 4k E iR
a) EN I IRE - HEREAREGEESE ()#NEER BIKIEs| (T EWiRAL)

—RRINER

B ERELRRRNBRENEREERRNER]
(NMNETABETHMNES R BRMNNEZRFNE

PYER27Fr B RYIRIE ~ 4

EREAREIES IR

P RETAFNESRIBRERER R ARETHHRA
by Bt ARERIKRE FERER CER) FTANE EEN - -2t -1B9%k
BNFENRER R/ WA ETANER UUKRFRER —HMERER -
REA R R A HORIE TARER
0  —EMIBETARTERR HEREAREPIKES

S ANAREVIERENEE WA) EFHME
EREREBMNBERAR-

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED E LifsEARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT__FF#

77



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

R AR RIS IR EABMIAIRIR - HEREQREIESIER Efi/fEE

Reporting boundary

EREE

General disclosure A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG Reporting Scope and
report and describing the process used to identify which Period
entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is
a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference
and reason for the change.

—RRIREE BEIRE e REARENERLE REMIENLEE REBE LM
BREBMARE HEREARENBRE -SERBES
Froi & 17T NRBEAR 2 R R EEREA -
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KPIs

R AR RIS 1R

A. Environmental

AR
Aspect A1:
Emissions

EEA1 :
HER 4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB LB RERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

—RRE
BRERR

BEREBN - AKRIMBEES A ERE

EEEYNELESH
(@) BER; &
(b) BTFHBETABEAFENHEREERRFANER -

KPI A1.1

RE SR AE IS
TZAT.1
KPI A1.2

RE AR IS
1ZA1.2
KPI A1.3

RASEAE WIS
ZA1.3
KPI A1.4

RS
ZA1.4
KPI A1.5

RASEAE S
12A1.5
KPI'A1.6

RESRAE s
BA1.6

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

PR SRR S AR BRI B o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity

B# EE) kioREE GE D) BERE
e E UWEEE) Kk WER) BE -
Total hazardous waste generated (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity.
FREEBEREEYRE CUETE) &k G0#E
) BEe

Total non-hazardous waste generated (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

PRELBREEEYEE CUEE) Kk WE
B B

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

HMPTET U MNHINE B R R AETIELER
PITEREX B9 27 B3 o

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HERIEAENBEEREEYN G L Rt
Fir5] 3 BRI RS B AR e 7% 2 B35 L B AR PR ERER
K 5% o

Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

REEE

Air Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

BEREBE ;
BURHBERE
Carbon Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

BRHEI 5
BUHBERE

Solid Waste;

B RS BE ) 5

Solid Waste;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

EIRSEEYD ;
BUNHBRE
Carbon Emissions;
Air Emissions

BRBE

BE R HEK

Solid Waste

(& s B2 4
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF - ERE?

almS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R ERUEE BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER EHfi/fEE
Aspect A2: General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
Use of Resources Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water ~ MANAGEMENT
and other raw materials.
BEA2 : — AR IR ER RIFEE
BIRER BXERER (B1EkR  KREMEREM) NEER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Energy Consumption;

PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
RASRERE MEBRAONERK NEREREER EFE

RA2.1 UTETEREHE kRE- RMBIERE

type in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity.

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water Consumption;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
RRENIE REKEREE- IKFE ;
1EA2.2 BHBEIERE
KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set  ENVIRONMENTAL
and steps taken to achieve them. MANAGEMENT
RASRENMIE WP UM REAMEERRAERE RREEE
1EA2.3 LE B IR PTERENAY P BR o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Water Consumption
sourcing water that is fit for the purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them
RARGERNTE HAUKECER KR LI B1ERIEE » DURFr  7KFE
1EA2.4 ST AR m B R A EDE L B IR
EXB9 2 5% o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Solid Waste
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
RASRAEZNIE HMMFTAEEMRINESE UWETE) kG0 EREY
1EA2.5 £ BEEBMLS-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPIs

R AR RIS 1R

Aspect A3:
The Environment and
Natural Resources

[E@EA3 :
IRIBRRAEIR
Aspect A4:

Climate Change

[EEAS :
RIREE

IRIR-HERET

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Policies for minimizing the issuers’ significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

—RIEE
BAREEAT

KPI'A3.1

AHRIERRAEREMERF EHIER

Description of significant impacts of business
activities on the environment and natural
resources and actions taken to manage them.
FARAENIE WMMEREBHRIERRABERNEATLE
1ZA3.1 REENEERREEZNTH

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

— AR EE

ﬁﬂ&%ﬁeﬁ AREEHETAELERENERRIER
FAE BEABER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
RENIE HEKKAEGHETAEERENEKX
EA4.1 RIGHEAEE > KELHTE

alRS

Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

RIFEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

Climate Change

RIRE1E

Climate Change
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs

R ERUEE
B. Social
BAt®
Aspect B1:

Employment

[EmEB1 :
EfE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

EABMIAIRIR - HEREQREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—MRIRE

BREAF MR BIEASH  TIERS - R 5%

2 Zlb  RERUREMFBREFD :

(@ HE&
by BFHBETABEAFENEREIERBEINE
i} o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region.

BARENIE BRI BEEE  FRAER R MES SR

1EB1.1 ISEEY 6

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

RASRERGE IR FlcAER R E S DRI E S MK

12B1.2 e
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Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNEIKRt&

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
HPANETRHEE ;
BMBIERE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY;

BFNEIRHE ;



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R ERESHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
RASR A ISR BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER EHfi/fEE
Aspect B2: General Disclosure Health and Safety
Health and Safety Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

[EmB2 : — R RERZE
REEZE ErREHZ2TRIRERREREREZHEEEEN .
@@ HE&
(b) BTFHETAREARZEZNHEBEERRINE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities PERFORMANCE DATA
occurred in each of the past three years SUMMARY

including the reporting year.
RRENIE BE=FRN (BERESFE ELEMRRIET BXEEREE
ZB2.1 AY A B LE =R

KPI B2.2 Lost person days due to work injuries. PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY
RRENIE EITEBEATEAE BMEIERE
12B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.
RSRENIE HFIRAIBERRE 22 URIE #REZEE
12B2.3 RAIT B 5%

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED E LifsEARAR 83
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT__FF#



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs

R AR RIS IR

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

[EEB3 :
BRRIE

Aspect B4:
Labour Standards

[BTEBA4 :
BT #A|

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
— AR e 8

BRI EEEIT LEB BN M Kk i AR EUR o #iE
A
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

BmRENE "M REESER WMEREERE PREE

1EB3.1 EB% BN =ZilEETtE-
KPI B3.2 Average training hours completed per

employee by gender and employee category.

BEEME R REERAE D SREETHAX
1%B3.2 GRS

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to prevention of child or forced labour.

— RIS

B RARG L& T sk 5855 ThY

(@ BERK

b) BIFHETABEARZNHEEZERRINE

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

RASRAERGE s 1B ES 1B 6 RV IE i LUEE %2 2 T R ol

12B4.1 g To

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

M7 38 IR B AR 1B I JH BR A RIS U P ERER

By BR o

RE SR A IS
1ZB4.2
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Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

Training and Development

%R

Training and
Development;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
BEilREE ;
BUBBRE
Training and
Development;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
BilkER ;
BMEIRRE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RANBE T RitE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNETIKRHt&

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNEIKRt&



KPIs

R AR RIS 1R

Aspect B5:
Supply Chain
Management
fEmEBS :
R E IR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB LB RERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER SHfi/EE
General Disclosure OPERATIONAL
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the EXCELLENCE
supply chain
—ARiR R PHEE
EIEHRENIRE L E BEREBER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supplier Management
RSB HMES o EEHEE - HEmEE
12B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supplier Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RASRAENIE I ERBAEEENIES mERITER  HEMEIE
1ZB5.2 BAHNHERSE - UkEREANRNITR
BERAE
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supplier Management
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RASRAERNIE WMt BRMHEESERANEREREE HEHEIE
1£B5.3 R EERIE R U ABR I T B 5 7% ©
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supplier Management
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RASRAEINIE HEREHEERECSRREREMKR HEFMEIE
12B5.4 FRVIE G > LURABRAIT R 5%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF- G RERHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
RAR A ISR BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER EHfi/fEE
Aspect B6: General Disclosure OPERATIONAL
Product Responsibility Information on: EXCELLENCE

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

[EEB6 : —ARiREE SHEE
EmEE BRFTEERNRBHNRREZ2 - BES RE MRS
BRI ED
(@) HER; K&
(b) BTFHETABEARZENEREEARAINE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Data Privacy
subjected to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
FRENIE EENCEEXEMRBTELZEBREER BEBELE
1%B6.1 mZaLIWR B D e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Customer Satisfaction
complaints received and how they were dealt
with.
RASRAENIE BEEANERMRBILFHEUKRERT BRREE
12B6.2 %o
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing Data Privacy

and protecting intellectual property rights.

AN IE A R RIE R AR A RVIEA - ECERNE

12B6.3

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and Product Assurance
product recall procedures.

RRENIE HlEERTEBREKREmLBIWRER - mERE

12B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Data Privacy
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

RASRAENIE HiUSEE BB RERMBEER  URARE  BURNLE
1%B6.5 HITRERG Ao
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KPIs

R AR RIS 1R

Aspect B7:
Anti-corruption

JEHEB7 :
RES

Aspect BS:
Community
Investment

JZEBS :
HERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB LB RERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFAIRIR - 1 ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— AR

BRI LR ~ 81 R ~ REF RO R ERA0 ¢

@@ HE R
(b) BTFHETAREAREZNHEBEERRINE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding

charges of corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

BMRENE RERPAABETANHESRETEES

12B7.1 NESHFAEGRIME KL ER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

BRENIE RS RRRERF  UREBARITR

1%2B7.2 BRAE
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided

to directors and staff.
FRAENIE WinEEAETRMANRETE -
#ZB7.3

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the

needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

—ARiR R

BRIt @2ERTHRETASEMETLREEMERE
EFEBEETRUENEAIBER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.
AN EFaREE-

1ZB8.1

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.

RIBAENIE TR ISHEMHAEER.
1ZB8.2

Section/Remarks

SHi/MEE

Anti-corruption

A n—

RES

Anti-corruption

R&=

Anti-corruption

R&ES
Anti-corruption

k&5

Community Involvement

H&

(&l

W

~

Community Involvement
HEesH

Community Involvement
HE2H
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Report of Directors

EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are engaged in (i) property
development and investment; and (i) trading of raw sugar.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the Year is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in this annual
report on pages 113 to 231.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the Year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form a part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MARKET
OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTUS

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and
a discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 5 to 15 of this annual report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies and
practices of the Group are shown in notes 40 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice of
recycling and reducing. To help conserve the environment,
it implements green office practices such as re-deployment
of office furniture as far as possible, encourage use of
recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, reduce energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical
appliances. Details for the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the Year are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
53 to 87.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.
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Report of Directors

EFEHS

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the Year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum of association of the
Company and Articles, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in notes 30 and 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" of this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the
Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles and the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 117 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There is no distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2022, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (2021: Nil).

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The reserves of the
Company available for distribution further depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries.
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EFEHS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of
the Company to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 31 May 2023 (“2023 AGM"), the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
24 May 2023 to Wednesday, 31 May 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2023 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:00
p.m. on Tuesday, 23 May 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue
for the Year.

The Group's suppliers are mainly contractors for property
development. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group has only one supplier and purchase from this
supplier amounted to 100% whereas purchase from the
largest supplier for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to 88%.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue) had any beneficial interest in the five largest
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the report date are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman) (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Pan Shimin (appointed as executive Director and
Chairman on 28 January 2022 and
Chief Executive Officer on 10 February 2022 and
resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 10 February 2022)

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (appointed as executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (resigned with effect from
30 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Weijiang

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (appointed on 6 July 2022)

Mr. Pan Shimin, Mr. Chen Xian and Mr. Chen Weijiang shall
retire from office by rotation pursuant to article 87(1) of the
Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election

at the 2023 AGM.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. To Kwan, Mr. Yau Sze Yeung and
Mr. Lee Chun Tung, who were appointed by the Board
in year 2022, shall hold office until 2023 AGM pursuant
to article 86(3) of the Articles, and being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in pages 17
to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Pan Shimin has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 28 January 2022 without fixed term. He
may receive a discretionary bonus as determined by the
Remuneration Committee based on his performance and
the Company’s performance.

Mr. Chen Xian has entered into a service contract with the
Company. He is entitled to a double pay in accordance with
his service contract. He may receive a discretionary bonus as
determined by the Remuneration Committee based on his
performance and the Company’s performance.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 17 June 2022 for an initial term of three
years commencing from 17 June 2022 unless terminated
by not less than two months’ notice in writing served by
either party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. To Kwan has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 15 June 2022 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 15 June 2022 unless terminated by not
less than two months’ notice in writing served by either
party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Chen Weijiang has signed an appointment letter issued
by the Company on 31 March 2023 for the continuous
appointment as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years with retrospective effect from
2 January 2023 unless terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party to the other
or payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. Yau Sze Yeung has signed an appointment letter issued
by the Company on 6 July 2022 for an initial term of three
years commencing on 6 July 2022 unless terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung has signed an appointment letter
issued by the Company on 17 June 2022 for an initial
term of three years commencing on 17 June 2022 unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either
direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during the Year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yau Sze Yeung, Mr. Lee
Chun Tung and Mr. Chen Weijiang, an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which were subject to
the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics, and approved by the Board.

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO")) (1) which are required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (2) which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (3) which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.
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Long position in ordinary shares REBERZIFE
Approximate
percentage
of the total
number of
Number of shares of
ordinary the Company
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests share(s) held in issue
([ YNk
RIPHEEA
TERREL A B/ fmtE Frfr B E L E =R
Ming Hung Fung Company Limited Beneficial owner 72,000,000 28.29
HBEERAH EGHEEA
Liu Dong Interest of a controlled corporation 72,000,000 28.29
(Note 1)
S RER AT GEE
China Sugar Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 24,210,526 9.51
FEIEEERERAT EGEEA
Guangdong Nanyue Bank Person having a security 24,210,526
First Direct Branch* interest in shares (Note 2) 9.51
BREERTRNBRAR BEERGZEFREZZAL (Fy¥2)
F—HBXT
Chen Qiang Beneficial owner 14,950,000 5.87
[T BEGEEA

*  For identification purpose only
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Notes:

1. These shares of the Company are held by Ming Hung Fung
Company Limited which is 100% owned by Mr. Liu Dong. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Dong is deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Ming Hung Fung Company
Limited.

2. China Sugar Holdings Limited has provided a share charge in
respect of the 24,210,526 shares of the Company held by it in
favour of Guangdong Nanyue Bank First Direct Branch*.

*  For identification purpose only

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are not aware that there is any party who,
as at 31 December 2022, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme, which was adopted by the
Company on 30 November 2009, was terminated and a
new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2019. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme from 29 May 2019 (the “Date
of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019 to 28 May 2029).
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant share options to the participants who, in
the sole discretion of the Board, have made or may make
contribution to the Group or any invested entity as well
as to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economics interest in
attaining the long term business objectives of the Group.
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The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) options
to subscribe shares in the Company, subject to a maximum
of 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the adoption date and as at the approval date of
refreshment from time to time, excluding for this purpose
shares issued on the exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by the Board and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, (i) the average of the closing price of the shares
quoted on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date and
(iii) the closing price of the shares on the grant date.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer
of the grant of the option must be made within 21 days
from the date of grant. The exercise period of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme is determined by
the Board upon granting the options but in any event must
not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of
grant.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval
by the shareholders of the Company at general meeting
to refresh the 10% limit. However, the total number of
shares available for issue under exercise of options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshment of the 10% limit.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and the old share option scheme
of the Company is 24,646,905 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 9.69% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual
report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time and the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to each eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue for the
time being in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of offer of the grant.

During the Year, no share option was cancelled or
exercised.
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Details of the share options movements during the Year
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under the old share option scheme are as follows: BATF
Number of share options
HBREYE

Date of Balance Granted Lapsed Balance

grant of Exercise Exercise as at during during as at
Name or category of grantees  share options Price (HK$) Period Vesting Period 1/1/2022 the Year the Year  31/12/2022

RZIZZZ KZEZZ
it 1@ —A—H i R&EE +ZB=+—H

BRI EEAER FERRE H (B (RN BEH 28 TEERY F3 AR
Beneficial owner
of a substantial shareholder of the Company
FRAFNTERFZEHZERA
Liu Zhongxiang 13172017 250 13772017 - WA 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 =
28m 12/7/2022 A
Director
S
Chen Xian 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -
RE 12/7/2022 TER
Former Directors
FIES
Liu Feng 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 400,000 - 400,000 -
el 12/7/2022 TEA
Lau Sai Chung 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 800,000 - 800,000 -
g 12/7/2022 TER
Poon Lai Yin Michael 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000 -
ERE 12/7/2022 TER
Char Shik Ngor Stephen 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000 -
EHH 12/7/2022 TEH
Li Jiansheng 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000 -
FRYE 12/7/2022 TER
Xia Dan 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 500,000 - 500,000 =
Xia Dan 12/7/2022 AER
Other employees
HitiES
In aggregate 13/7/2017 2.50 13/7/2017 - N/A 1,900,000 - 1,900,000 -
=E 12/7/2022 TER
Total 6,400,000 = 6,400,000 Nil
w5t i
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” above,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses and children under
age of 18) to have any right to subscribe for securities
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director had interests in a business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
throughout the Year with the Code Provisions of CG Code.
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section
of this annual report.
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FORENSIC INVESTIGATION

On or about 27 January 2022, the Board was informed that
certain bank accounts of Maoming Subsidiaries were frozen
by Zhangjiang City Public Security Bureau* G&I AL /E)
("Public Security”).

Upon execution of the Custodian Agreement with a PRC
bank by each of Maoming Subsidiaries for joint custodian
of company chops and U-keys for their bank accounts, all
the bank accounts of Maoming Subsidiaries formerly frozen
were unfrozen by the Public Security on 9 March 2022.
Maoming Subsidiaries can operate their bank accounts
for their ordinary business normally and their PRC legal
advisers will apply for the termination of the Custodian
Agreements.

The Company has engaged an independent professional
firm to conduct the Investigation. The Investigation
had been completed, and the Company received
an independent forensic investigation report (the
"Investigation Report”) from the Independent Forensic
Consultant on 27 September 2022, details of the
Investigation Report were set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 31 October 2022.

Having considered the Investigation Report, the
independent investigation committee formed comprised
all the independent non-executive Directors is of the view
that the findings of the Investigation revealed concerns in
the Company’s corporate governance and internal control
system, and recommended to the Board to undertake
an internal control review to improve and strengthen the
Group’s internal control system and policies.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company has appointed an independent internal
control consultant to review the internal control systems
of the Group and the review has been completed and the
Group has implemented certain measures and policies
as recommended by the independent internal control
consultant to strengthen the Group’s internal control
systems.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and
up to the date of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as auditor
of the Company with effect from 15 August 2022 and
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan
Woods") has been appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 9 September 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

Save as aforesaid, there was no change in auditor during
the last three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of McMillan Woods
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2023
AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

PAN Shimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
PEEHERBRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the”Group”)
set out on pages 113 to 231, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Revenue recognised from sale of properties; and
2. Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under
development.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Key audit matter

RELEE

VR ER SR

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MR EZPRIEMREZEE

Revenue recognised from sale of properties
MY RHE R 2 W=

Refer to notes 3.2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified revenue recognised from sale of properties
as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

R EHERI N AHGEEBaR2EENL &K
PR s ZEEH E M sl 2 W i p) A B R T 1% B H o

The Group’s revenue from sale of properties for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB60,546,000, representing approximately 99% of
the Group’s total revenue. As disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue from sale of
properties is recognised when the development of the
relevant properties have been completed and the control of
the completed property is transferred to the customer.

HE_SE__F+_HA=+t—HIFE> SEEYX
HE 2 WFE AN AR MEE0,546,0007T 0 1 SEBELE

#4999% o AR B BB MBS RE » MEHE
BN ER S RARYE DT TES BHECEE
F AR

RIAR S M B RS M 5E3.2%5

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
sale of properties included:

BB EHERS a2 BF 8 !

Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
Group's internal control over the process of revenue
recognition of sale of properties; and

TRk BEEEARMYEHEERIWERE
Pz NEREETE 5 &

Assessing whether the criteria for the delivery of
properties have been fulfilled by checking, on a
sample basis, to the terms of the sales and purchase
agreements, the relevant completion certificate for
construction work, as well as the delivery notices
issued by the Group to the buyers to assess whether
the control of properties is transferred to the buyers.
RMREETEEIYENRERSEREES
WENGER - REIREHAATHEEUR 8%
ERTaEETREESEBETEAMAER
FEHWATBRIER
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Key audit matter

REREE

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MR EZPRIEMREEZEE

Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under development

FEHEME TEMEZMGE

Refer to notes 3.2, 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the valuation of properties held for sale (the
“PFS”) and properties under development (the “PUD") as
a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and significant judgements and
estimation are involved in the determination of the net
realisable value (the “NRV") of the PFS and PUD.
ARFEREZYE (HEHEYE) kTEEYE (1T
BYE) 2 hEHGREMBRERCEEURNEEFF
HEMERTREYEZ PISIRFE (PI2RFE)) KY
FRERH R a5t R E B ARAREZSFE

The Group's PFS and PUD of approximately
RMB170,156,000 and RMB349,000,000 respectively are
situated in the PRC as at 31 December 2022 as disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The
management of the Group determined the NRV of the PFS
and PUD with reference to the valuation performed by the
independent professional property valuer (the “Valuer”)
and recent sales transactions in nearby locations, rate of
new property sales, the legal and regulatory framework
and general market conditions.
RZE__F+”"A=+—H> EBEEZHINYA
R #170,156,0007c & AR 349,000,000t 2 5 fF
HEMERTEMEMR PR BULESHBRR
ME18PIIRE) - EXEEEEECRHFHEYE
REBMEZFISHFERS2E/UIEEYEMLE
B (MM EE) ETT2MERBEBEHAHEERZ H
MEHEXR - EENEERRURERT R
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of properties
held for sales/properties under development included:
BEMERFIELENE TRMEZHEZEFE
N

Evaluating the Valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
HELEMZBEEE - BHREEN

Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgemental areas on key inputs and data
used in the valuation;

MGER T RLER Z - METBRE IR Z
BEABRK - EHEMRAZEIEZEHABREEZE
RFVEn S

Engaging independent competent auditor's expert
to review the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model prepared by the Valuer; and
SHRBEIISERZBMEREREERRE EA
WA ZERTHEE > UXFHGEEMRENGEER
B PrE A E KA B R R 5 &

Assessing the management's estimation of the
NRV of the PFS and PUD, on a sample basis, by
comparing the estimated selling prices of the PFS to
the recent sales transactions in the same project and
in nearby location, rate of new property sales, the
legal and framework and general market condition,
based on our understanding of the Group’s business
and operation and our research on the PRC real
estate industry.

R EE BANIILFKIFEEYEREEY X
FHEEBRMARERREFBLBIEER S MY
FIHEX ERABREERREBET R RIEHM
H SEREBREENTRURBRMANPERE
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Chun Sing

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO5537

24/F., Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= AT L
raiEEm
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE
2022 2021
—EIZfF T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
M=z AR®FTxT ARETT
Revenue Wz 5 60,709 173,974
Cost of sales HE R (51,625) (154,900)
Gross profit EF 9,084 19,074
Other income Eu A 7 1,305 1,962
Other losses EfhAsE 8 (1,762) (35,701)
Impairment loss (recognised) reversed under EMFEWRIETEHAE EE51E
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on (FEfR = EKE) B\ T
other receivables (hEEY) BELIM R AR R (419) 729
Allowance recognised on properties M EH B £
held for sale BiE (5,222) (302,818)
Allowance recognised on properties under — FLTEE ) ZERERAVE
development (48,187) (71,026)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (4,580) (10,041)
Administrative expenses THER (27,031) (29,384)
Finance costs 2RI nIN 9 (903) (804)
Loss before taxation FRIG A ES 18 (77,715) (428,009)
Income tax credit (expense) FriEiRiEse Gx) 10 2,246 (37,259)
Loss for the year FAEEIE 11 (75,469) (465,268)
Loss for the year attributable to: M TG FREIE !
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZZ= N (55,768) (400,926)
Non-controlling interests JEEEHI MR (19,701) (64,342)
(75,469) (465,268)
Loss per share (in RMB cents) FRER (ARED) 14
— Basic — ER (21.92) (157.55)
— Diluted — 8 (21.92) (157.55)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

=g

mRHEMEE R R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—E-fF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Loss for the year FAEIE (75,469) (465,268)
Other comprehensive expense Hih2mMEAx
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or #&F BE#H FIEE R m 2
loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of K& IhAE & H I E A 25| &1
functional currency to presentation currency EE4 Z FER ZE%E 56,576 (17,836)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B BJgEEH 74 E 18w =~
profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of K@ E EIN EFE > M FEHRKRE
financial statements of foreign operations 4 7 [E R Z= 28 (59,228) 17,998
(2,652) 162
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNEERZ4EEE (78,121) (465,106)
Total comprehensive expense for the year LX—FFTEKEEFE%EF‘FESE
attributable to: 40z -
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZF DN (59,960) (401,361)
Non-controlling interests FEFEH M (18,161) (63,745)
(78,121) (465,106)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

4R IR R

At 31 December 2022 R_E__&#+_H=+—H

2022 2021
—¥F BT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
e AR¥TRT AR®BTT
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Investment properties KREME 15 1,800 4,400
Property, plant and equipment M- BB RS 16 15,974 15,543
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 338 1,229
18,112 21,172
Current Assets MENEE
Properties under development EEME 18 349,000 364,000
Properties held for sale BFIEHEYZE 18 170,156 233,744
Investment properties held for sale FELEREY= 18 746 10,057
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments %< ~ ELfth FE W sk B &
FAfTRIE 19 34,489 44,300
Financial assets at fair value through BAnEStABRZUHEEE
profit or loss 20 3,821 4,313
Restricted bank deposit BREIRITER 21 7,094 -
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITENR 22 3,924 4,482
Bank balances and cash IRITEEFERIREE 22 26,710 40,142
595,940 701,038
Current Liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables B2 RAEMENRIE 23 151,142 146,203
Contract liabilities =Y OI=LE 24 32,496 56,718
Other borrowing EE=x 25 8,844 8,150
Lease liabilities — current portion HEaE-— R 26 344 921
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE A< JE =) M 8 7 TR I 27 105,750 98,250
Amounts due to directors RS EEIE 34 96 2,325
Amount due to a former director e —RAIEESNRIA 34 = 14,589
Tax payable FEIRIA 97,066 95,016
Bank overdrafts RITEX 22 = 1,959
Secured bank borrowings BIRRIRITER 28 12,184 8,020
407,922 432,151
Net Current Assets MENEEEE 188,018 268,887
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities WEERTEARE 206,130 290,059
Non-current Liabilities JEREIAE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEaE—ERHE D 26 5 321
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 29 6,169 11,661
6,174 11,982
Net Assets BERE 199,956 278,077
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sR e MR

At 31 December 2022 R_E__F+_H=+—H

2022 2021
—B_F B”_—F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBFRT ARETT
Capital and Reserves BARKEE

Share capital [N 30 222,157 222,157
Reserves (B 1,990 61,950

Equity attributable to owners of P /NCIE Z DN
the Company 224,147 284,107
Non-controlling interests JETHI R T (24,191) (6,030)
Total Equity W 4ERE 199,956 278,077
The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 231 FIB3EBNEZHEEHBERRENR IS I=F=

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of B=1+—HEAXRDEZGHERIZETIE
Directors of the Company on 31 March 2023:

Mr. PAN Shimin Mr. CHEN Xian
BHRLEE RETE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EBE EBE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

G EER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 ﬁi_;‘ = _fﬁ—f‘ B=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRE 2B NEL
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
k& RiVEE hERE  BRERE Rt it RIS Lh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETR  AREBTR AREBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
(htst1) (Hf3x2) (Frz3)
At 1 January 2021 “Z--%-fA-H 222,157 578,540 (40,427) 5481 (80,283) 685,468 57,715 743,183
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (400,926) (400,926) (64,342) (465,268)
Exchange differences arising on FA#mEEERER
translation of functional currency SIERELVERER
to presentation currency - - (17,836) - - (17,836) - (17,836)
Exchange differences arising on FAEEIESE
translation of financial statements MBRREEZERES
of foreign operations - - 17,401 - - 17,401 597 17,998
Total comprehensive expense for the year EW PEESAE = S (435) = (400,926) (401,361) (63,745) (465,106)
At 31 December 2021 and “—&+”R=1-H
1 January 2022 g::i A—H 222,157 578 540 (40,862) 5,481 (481,209 284,107 (6,030) 278,077
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (55,768) (55,768) (19,701) (75,469)
Exchange differences arising on RARmaEEERER
translation of functional currency SIERELZERER
to presentation currency - - 56,576 - - 56,576 - 56,576
Exchange differences arising on RAE BN ER 2
translation of financial statements MBRREEZERES
of foreign operations - - (60,768) - - (60,768) 1,540 (59,228)
Total comprehensive expense for the year £R2EFI S 4 - - (4,192) - (55,768) (59,960) (18,161) (78,121)
Lapse of share options BRELY - - - (5,481) 5,481 - - =
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZH+ZA=1+-H 222,157 578,540 (45,054) - (531,496) 224,147 (24,191) 199,956
Notes: B ST
1. Pursuant to the Companies law of the Cayman Islands and 1. RIBFHEFHEREERA QB ERZMA ZIS’&EHQ
the Company’s Articles of Association, the share premium of REINETESFE A ERBEERD IS

the Company is distributable to the equity holders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 3.2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

EHFREREEEHENAEESR %aEEleJHHZTE
%%O

2. B REEEREEIMEEEB M BRKREE
EreMERER - ZREREGSVYBREME
3.2FTE A G SRR I

3. E%Hﬂ&%ﬁ?a’fﬁ#“?M?éﬁﬁ%iﬁ%éwéﬂ.zuﬂﬁzk
BEZRMIRPTERAE SHEER BAANEEES
ERHARTEEREZRREFHEZANE.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before taxation FRF2 A ES 18 (77,715) (428,009)
Adjustments for: HEIEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment MEBERZEITE 736 746
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TREBSEITE 954 939
Fair value change on financial assets at fair value AR EABRZ
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") MBEBEEZ AREES 824 519
Fair value change on investment properties KREMEZ N AEE 938 35,182
Allowance recognised on properties MEH EY XN
held for sale B 5,222 302,818
Allowance recognised on properties TRV ERDRE
under development 48,187 71,026
Finance costs RSN 903 804
Net impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) ~ EMFERFIETEER = E5518
under ECL model on other receivables BRIE T ZRERIE
CRUERSIB#EE]) F 5 419 (729)
Interest income FMEUA (144) (162)
Operating cash flows before movements in SEBETEFAKERENE
working capital (19,676) (16,866)
Increase in properties under development ERMZEEM (33,187) (181,631)
Decrease in properties held for sale FIEHEYZERD 58,366 66,153
Decrease in investment properties held for sale FIEHEREYER LD 9,311 =
Decrease (increase) in deposits, other receivables and %2 ~ EL{thFE WL R IE K
prepayments FAfTRIE R D (80 9,460 (16,987)
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value A RETAERZ
through profit or loss B EERL (5) 860 1,400
Increase in trade and other payables B2 R EME FRIEE M 5,030 87,169
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD (24,222) (17,436)
Cash generated from (used in) operations KEEE TR B 5,942 (78,198)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") paid BT (PSR
(T ZPT1SHR) (178) (2,170)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid BT P - #IE E R
(T #hIBER) (1,037) (8,238)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) REFTHESE FIR) REFH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,727 (88,606)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 E—

nT (== ] EE%/)ILE%E

T B=t—HILEE

2022 2021
—z=-= B S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IR BEIRIRIRITER 4,482 11,486
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HERBEWEZMERIE 1,662 24,761
Interest received BUF S 144 162
Placement of restricted bank deposit EHRBERGIRITER (7,094) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits ERERIRIRITER (3,924) (4,482)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME -BRERSZE (6) (112)
Repayment from a third party BZHEM - 50,000
Repayment from a non-controlling interest FFERERIBENR - 6,000
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposit IRENA RRFIRITER - 22
Advance to a third party B85 = HIR B = (50,000)
Advance to a non-controlling interest EIEER MR (B — (6,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM KREES FRA) FRiGIREFEH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,736) 31,837
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEES
Advance from non-controlling interests FEIEH M = 9,000 30,000
Advance from a director —HEFBH 8,844 5,741
Advance from a former director —ZEIEEEET 6,721 14,589
New secured bank borrowing raised MEE 2 BIRIRRITEM TA 4,396 -
Repayment to a former director BIE—%A EEE%ZH = (22,552) -
Repayment to a director BEEE 2 HIE (10,379) (10,000)
Repayment to non-controlling interests B S R > R (1,500) (16,750)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR (1,017) 972)
Repayment of secured bank borrowing BIEAIRPIRITER (909) (837)
Interest paid [=ENpARS (886) (782)
Advance from third parties F= E@ = 48,000
Repayment to third parties Ef&?ﬁ =R ZIA - (48,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM MEES (FTA) FrIifRE R
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8,282) 20,989
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEBY 2RV FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (8,291) (35,780)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZRERFEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 38,183 73,809
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [E X&) > /& (3.182) 154
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZREERFEEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 26,710 38,183
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\7|-\ iﬁ% ;)tltl. E ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—E-C B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AREBTRT

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND RERBREEEMEGRIR
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted bank deposit BRHBIRITER 7,094 -
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITENR 3,924 4,313
Bank balances and cash RTEERRES 26,710 40,142
Bank overdrafts R1TEXZ = (1,959)
Deposits, bank balances and cash in the FENBRRRAEE  BITE
consolidated statement of financial position EFRIRE 37,728 42,496
Less: Restricted bank deposit B AIRBIIRITIER (7,094) -
Pledged bank deposits EEFIRITER (3,924) (4,313)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated (&R HRERNRER
statement of cash flows REEEY 26,710 38,183
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

1. GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (“the Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
and investment as well as trading of raw cane sugar. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$") while the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") for the convenience of
the financial statements users.

1. —KREH

TEEHMEBRBRAR (IA281) DREE
HEEEMRIUZRBEERATRERMDE
EEMAERZRAERRQR (TEBMPRI) £
WRED -ARABZAMPEERETEE F MU
ERERPZIREER —HKE-

ERBBREERRB - ARBREWNERF

(e TAER) TEREVEERRRE
UhkEEREES - HETBENBRABZEHHN
e BWARMEEST -

FAABHNNEERREBE (TBE) HAHE
MHERERZERE GEMBRERDUARE
(TAR®1) 25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first

time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation

of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to
Accounting Guideline 5

Merger Accounting for
Common Control
Combinations

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Company’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Company has not early applied the new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2022. These new and revised HKFRSs included the
following which may be relevant to the Company:

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020)

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Presentation of Financial
Statement — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment On Demand
Chause?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

in e IS IR R MIEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
investment properties held for sale and financial assets at
FVTPL, which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

2. MERAEERMBHRIER (FEMBR
HER) Z185T (B

BEMBERRERZMIEEMBREERNRE
(NG

KRB EFTENERAMBEMIEBRMBRE
R R EEITRAER A RREHES Y
BRREMERTE-

3. MBRRGBREEREBGFER

3.1 FOMBRRENEE

HREMBREDREEESSAMAGEMZ
BEEUBREERRR - LIN REHHTRE
BEEBMIMES LHRUKREBERFKF
BIPRIRE 2 B REE

FREVE -FFHERBEVERRAAES
ABm (RARES AR 2HBEERN
BEREPARBRAEFEIN REFBERER
WIEELRAREERR (N TXAAHE SR
FRERE) o

BERETE—MRUEGERRBXZRENL2 R
BREE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for equity-settled share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16")
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

3. Eéi%iﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ&igg?rﬁ%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

5 MBS IR R I 5L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale of
properties that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Properties under development and properties held for
sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets, properties under development/properties held
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification
basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion of development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale (Continued)

Investment properties are classified as held for sale and
under current assets if the Group has been committed
to a sale plan at the end of the reporting period and
their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale
transaction. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification. Investment properties classified as held for
sale continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies for investment properties as mentioned
above.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liability is adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset. Other than investment
properties measured under fair value model, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable and
such grants are presented as “other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as expenses, when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employee

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit or loss before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same entity by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in HK$ and United States dollars to the
Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend earned on
the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including deposits, other
receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances) and financial guarantee contracts
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

3. %ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&i%@ﬂﬁ%

32 EZEHEE#E
HMBIR (#®)
HMBEEE (B

MBEEMUVBFRFRELRE (&

(iy EERBRKEEM &

. BEHEANKEXRERARPERER
65 =

. BEHBEANEE KAARMREAER
ABEMERTMNEE  BEREHAEE
RIRAIBE ST KB REMR -

T LA EERNA EENTREAIE
BIOK AIAEEVREEERARB D HE
SBURKBEM BREFAEEHESERERZ
BRERRB R IR0 > B F R o

FEBEHERANEERRE S KEEM
FRABRENERM  TRBESTURRZZE
FESHTERR IR A HA BT B (5 B B BRI K8 HE A o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings or in case of other receivables, when the
amounts are past due, whichever occurs earlier. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

3. MBRRGUEEREEETHR

(&

32 EZREHEE@E
HMBIR (#®
HMEEE &

MHEERVBERRERGNRIE @)

(v) TRHEEBRZFERER

BFHEEEENSERENBSR ENEE
(AMHEEENNBIRRERE) REQRERK O
MR - BOBERENBEENTGDERE
CHERAELER R -FAHREEEIENE
BHERBXNMERZE USEHEENHEA
R EERTE -

—RMs BHRCEEERSRBEENENEE
ENFMEENRERERAAER A KIS
REREZENER LR D EDEEEN
BERAM R -

MMBEFREAMS  cEEBETREHA
BREFRXBERRZBR TELAR FILE
RREEEEAMERBEAMMEEZEE
BENBEHRMIRRE HEEAEERAEEA
AN BEFH AR E Ath A £ WEAYE R R ©

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
other borrowing, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to directors, amount due to a former
director, bank overdrafts and secured bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

3. %ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&i%@ﬂﬁ%

32 EZEHEE#E

WE -BERZGUREHESEHRHNE (7

HMEEEE (AREEEENMN) 2Tl bO£4R
BEBEREREE MRBEEE (RNBEEEE
B Z2iREBEAAMBEATWKOEE 5K
ERGER—BZEENREREEE B
WEXEENMOCEEE AEE TR —
MRTELBNUREE (BEEIREZAR
TELTBMUNEXEEAL DI EEFEENIR
HE AzERsEEBEUNIKEOEE &
ENREENMREAREREHERZE (N
fEte) EEREE (WIEE) MT-RE
PEFTZEENHEGRESBERILINDEE
ZBEMUANHEMEEN—HRTELEEM Al
BEEEMNRREmE-

WM EBERERERD IZBEEE (HREE
SEAUNRSEELEMAN) ZREBDHEE
HAWElEE 2 &ETEE EEEMZRE
BEFrEEBEANBEREEEEE HREELEE
HIREELEEAAR) I EE AR ERBE
REEZIREE REBEELNERIERA
Bl 58 7 W i



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have been in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that has the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

TETTE+"A=+—RHIEEE

4. FRAEFIERR EE(LEt

BOFE P A £ B B0 @ 5 BUE (W10 53, 257 )
B EEANKRANEE MR ERSNEE
REERE G A S RER EHR
A5 W01 B2 T LB (48 68 B 188 18 W0 6 L4
AEAER BRAERTATRARSEHAR
R e

BERERBROREBEESR - s Est
E’Jﬂ%.ﬂﬁjBATE.:H&WEJE’JHHF% SGACHIRES-A
Z AR » WHEFT M R R R AR (18 5] &2
- E LS N DR A

M FE RS ST IBUCR B (F 2 BRI SR 71 R

UTRBERIE EIRESNEREAEERT
SAHERBRERFAFLERGEMBRENME
BZEHEAARERTEZMST ZHIER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group’s investment properties are situated
in the PRC and the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties are recognised taking into
account PRC LAT and PRC EIT payable upon sales of those
investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s best estimates according
to its understanding of the requirements set forth in
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the
tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with the tax authorities for the
property development project. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the LAT expense and
the related provision in the period in which the differences
realise. The carrying amount of provision for LAT at 31
December 2022 was approximately RMB26,821,000 (2021:
RMB24,805,000).

Estimated net realisable value of properties under
development

In determining whether allowances should be made to the
Group's properties under development, the directors of
the Company make reference to the valuation performed
by an independent professional property valuer and take
into consideration the current market environment and the
estimated market value prices (i.e. the estimated selling
price less estimated costs to sell) less estimated costs
to completion of the properties. An allowance is made
if the estimated market value is less than the carrying
amount. If the actual net realisable value of properties
under development is less than expected as a result of a
change in market condition and/or significant variation
in the budgeted development cost, material provision
for allowance may result. At 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of properties under development was
approximately RMB349,000,000 (2021: RMB364,000,000),
net of allowance recognised of approximately
RMB119,213,000 (2021: RMB71,026,000).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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B=1t—H T HIEERBENREELNS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value of properties held for
sale

The directors of the Company determines the net realisable
value of properties held for sale by using prevailing market
data mainly most recent sales transactions. These estimates
require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by
reference to the valuation performed by an independent
professional property valuer and recent sales transactions
in the same project and in nearby location, rate of new
property sales and general market conditions. If the
actual net realisable value of properties held for sale after
considering the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale are less or higher than expected as a result of changes
in market conditions, material provision for or reversal of
allowance may result. At 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of properties held for sale was approximately
RMB170,156,000 (2021: RMB233,744,000), net of
allowance recognised of approximately RMB308,040,000
(2021: RMB302,818,000).

5. REVENUE

(i Disaggregation of revenue

An analysis of the Group's revenue arising from the
Mainland China for the year is as follows:

4. FAEFETREEMEE

EEFHEBERN T ERIE (B

HELENEZ IG5 AT 25 FE

AEBESTEZERTRHRABEHERSEE
AIMBEE BEERFHEYEZTERF
B -ZEMFT BEB2ERHILIEEYERE
fMETZHEREREBEEREBE WYX
EXRERETRHEBEHEB MR EEE
THENGEAXRERAZ  FIEHEYEZ
ERTEBFEHARTRASEMERI SN
EH OB XSEHEABFERAELQ RN T
T TEHE+ A=+ —H R EEIBEY
AR 308,040,000 0 (ZEZ—F : AR
302,818,0007T) B  FIELEYWEZRAE
NAEANRBE170,156,000c (ZEZ—F . A
R #233,744,0007T) ©

5. W&
() WKEDH

AEBFRREFEAMZ W@ DA T -

2022 2021

—EIEFE —®=——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT

Arising from the Mainland China IR B AR ET P

Sales of properties — a point in time MZEIHE — PR 60,546 172,547
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHNE 60,546 172,547
Lease — other source HE-HMER 163 1,427
60,709 173,974
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REVENUE (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts are based on standardised specifications
with no alternative use. Taking into consideration of
the relevant contract terms, the legal environment
and relevant legal precedents, the Group concluded
that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of control of the
relevant properties to customers. Revenue from
sales of properties is therefore recognised at a point
in time when control of completed property is
transferred to the customer, being at the point that
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.

In general, the Group receives 30% of the contract
value as receipt in advance from customers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreement and
remaining 70% of the contract value would
be received through the banks by releasing the
mortgages to the customers in two to three months
after the agreement signing date. Such advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction
period for the full amount of the contract price.

For trading of raw cane sugar to third party
customers, revenue from the sale of raw cane
sugar is recognised at a point of time when the
Group delivers the raw cane sugar to the customer
where its performance obligation is satisfied and
the customer obtains control of the raw cane sugar.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
when the invoice is presented to the customers
according to the payment terms agreed on the sales
contracts.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued)
(iii)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)

5. W= @&
(iii)

SEEXEREHNZHETENEENRZE

N _E__F+_BA=+—H HEEGHTRE
NEINRZB (RBEEXRIBDRBE) M8

as at 31 December 2022 and the expected timing of AR EREAT
recognising revenue are as follows:
2022 2021
B ="
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Within one year R—FR
Sales of properties MEHE 32,496 56,718
(iv) Leases (ivy #HE
2022 2021
R F 2" —
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
For operating leases with respect to investment ~ FLARIREYENKESHEMS ¢
properties:
Lease payments that are fixed EEHENR 163 1,427

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
(i.e. the executive directors of the Company) (the “CODM")
in order to allocate resources to the segments and assess
their performance.

The Group's operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are identified as the follows:

o Property development and investment: this segment
primarily develops and sells office premises, retail
stores, commercial, residential properties and car
parking spaces. This segment also generates rental
income from investment properties and achieves
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values
in the long term. All the Group’s activities in this
segment are carried out in the PRC.

o Trading of raw cane sugar: this segment trades raw
cane sugar on a worldwide basis.

Property development and investment and trading of raw
cane sugar also represent the Group's reportable segments.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment.

6. HWEHR
(@) SERKEKRER

AEBRaREFEZDNMBEERATKRSE D
WEHWT o

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_E_-_—_F#+-_A=+—BLEE

Property
development

Trading of

and investment raw cane sugar Total
MEZRR
BE REREES Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Revenue ey 60,709 - 60,709
Segment loss S EbESE (58,130) (677) (58,807)
Other income HttgA 51
Fair value change on financial assets at FVIPL A Bt A& Z
MBEEZ A NEE (824)
Finance costs B A (509)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROk ATRY (17,626)
Loss before taxation FRitAIEE (77,115)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_ZE_—F+-A=+—HILHFE
Property
development Trading of
and investment  raw cane sugar Total
MEEREKR
& REEES st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFT ARBFT
Revenue Wz 173,974 = 173,974
Segment loss A ERESHE (409,044) (1,616) (410,660)
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL A A B ABZRZ
MBEEZ A NEE (519)
Finance costs AR A (499)
Unallocated corporate expenses RPBARRER (16,331)
Loss before taxation iR RIS 18 (428,009)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note
3.2. Segment profit or loss represents the profit or loss of
each segment without allocation of certain other income,
fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL, certain
finance costs and unallocated corporate expenses (i.e.
central administration costs and directors’ emoluments).
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and

6. HWEHR
(@) SAEKEKRER (&)

MEDE 2 BB RAMEI2FAM A& E
SEFERAER - DB B B RES D BRD
RETHEMBA -BRAAREFAEGZMBTE
EZRABEH EFTHMHAEIRRDERT
A% (BPRTHRERAREEME) 2 dEF
BRI RETFEIEEERREANRERY
Bo ;e AT AU HE I o

(b) NWEEKRER

AEBEERERZDNMBERERKEE 7 EL

liabilities by reportable and operating segment: 257WmT
2022 2021
B T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Segment assets NEHEE
— Property development and investment —MEERREE 580,558 668,892
- Trading of raw cane sugar —REEES 13,185 33,455
Unallocated corporate assets IO hXEEE
— Financial assets at FVTPL —RBAREFABEZMHEE 3,821 4,313
— Bank balances and cash —IRITEERIRE 1,242 1,241
— Others —Hh 15,246 14,309
Consolidated total assets OB EME 614,052 722,210
Segment liabilities DEEE
— Property development and investment —MEERREE (383,857) (403,066)
— Trading of raw cane sugar —REEES (2,750) (1,648)
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ao hEERE
— Other borrowing —HMER (8,844) (8,150)
— Amount due to a director —RBN—R%EENIE = (2,201)
— Amount due to a former director —EN—RAIEEENIE - (14,589)
— Tax payable — R (238) (220)
- Bank overdrafts —iR1TEX - (1,959)
— Secured bank borrowings —BIRIRRITER (12,184) (8,020)
— Others —HAth (6,223) (4,280)
Consolidated total liabilities HEaERE (414,096) (444,133)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to segments assets other than
financial assets at FVTPL, certain bank balances and
cash and certain other assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to segments liabilities
other than other borrowing, certain amounts due
to directors, amount due to a former director,
certain tax payable, secured bank borrowings, bank
overdrafts and certain other liabilities.

(d) Other segment information

6. NEEH(E
(b) NWEEKRER #E

HEESESZENDBREMNDEE IR B
By

. FEARESF AR ZMBEE-ET
RITEEFERBEEURETEMEEN
FTEEENDEEDEEE , &

. REMER - ETEMESFTHIE BY
—LAREEERE - ETRAORE A
HIRBTER BTEXRETHEME
BN FrEERADEEDEER-

(0 HttaHER

2022 -
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment canesugar  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERXRRRE FEEES KAE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR AEB®Tr AREFTR AEBTxm
Amounts included in the measure of SIES SRR RIWEE
segment profit or loss and segment assets:  EFtAZFE !
Addition to non-current assets REFRYEE 6 - - 6
Impairment loss reversed under ECL HttENRIERBES
model on other receivables BEEXETRRE 2 AERS 419 - - 419
Allowance recognised on properties RIEHEMERRNRE
held for sale 5,222 - - 5,222
Allowance recognised on properties TR EE
under development 48,187 - - 48,187
Fair value change on investment properties R &Y% 7 A A EEH 938 - - 938
Finance costs BB - 394 509 903
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% R i R BT E 307 - 429 736
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRESERTE - 949 5 954
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM — EHjg T BT & A E I 21H
but not included in the measure of PRI EL BB 7R
segment profii or loss and segment assets:  H I EERIFIE
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL %A f(Est ABE 2
MBEBEZAREEE - - 824 824
Bank interest income SRR BMA (88) (6) (50) (144)
Other income Hetug A - (1,160) (1) (1.161)
Income tax credit FEhiEE (2,246) - = (2:246)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

173



174

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)  Other segment information (Continued)

6. SHEH(E

(0 EHtaHBEH

2021 —B_—F
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment cane sugar Unallocated ~ Consolidated
WERRRKRE  REEES N aft
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR®TT ARETR  AR®ET:
Amounts included in the measure of SIEN S ER RN EES
segment profit or loss and segment assets:  EFFAZFEB .
Addition to non-current assets REFRBEE 112 - 1,825 1,937
Impairment loss reversed under ECL HtEMHIBRBES
model on other receivables BREERE TR Z AESE (729) - - (729)
Allowance recognised on properties REHEYERINEE
held for sale 302,818 - - 302,818
Allowance recognised on properties ERYMERDNEE
under development 71,026 - - 71,026
Fair value change on investment properties R E#MEZ AR ELH 35,182 S S 35,182
Finance costs BB - 305 499 804
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% « R R HEHTE 325 - 421 746
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EHRESERE - 934 5 939
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM T £ ZEE A ZE I
but not included in the measure of TN ELHB# R
segment profit or loss and segment assets:  FEEEHIFE !
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL /A REST ARG Y
MBEEZANEED - - 519 519
Bank interest income BITFIEBA (159) = S (159)
Other income HetA (1) (1,802) S (1,803)
Income tax expense PRI 37,259 = = 37,259
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group's operations are located on the Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based
on the location of the operations. Information about the
Group's non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

6. HWEHR
d) HEBHEH

AEBNEBURNPEAMKRES -
FERFEBCEEXBRANIBERZERRE

B REGZEfMR B2 - AREEEHR
FFRBEENENNEREEMBMLUERZS -

Revenue from Non-current

External customers assets

KEINBER ZINE ERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
BT EFE BT —F IEBE_Ff “EFET—F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFxT ARETT AR¥EFTRT ABBTT
The Mainland China A [ER] PA 3 60,709 173,974 3,162 6,065
Hong Kong 58 - - 14,950 15,107
60,709 173,974 18,112 21,172

(e) Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there was no customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue.

() FEXREH

RBEE_ZE__Fk_ZE-_—F+2ZA
ST+ —HBLEFE - UTEERFNRZEBALRE
”&%6.2\,100/00
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HfhgA
2022 2021
—g=C BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR+ ARBTT
Compensation received upon cancellation of BUEMEE S &a41%
sugar trading contract WK EXRYBE1E 1,140 1,800
Bank interest income RITA B WA 144 159
Other income H A 21 3
1,305 1,962
8. OTHER LOSSES 8. HfthEsig
2022 2021
—E-C —_FE _—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AR®ETFT
Fair value change on investment properties KEMEANEES) 938 35,182
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL BAnBEst ABmNHHBEEN
NREEEF) 824 519
1,762 35,701
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BBRE
2022 2021
—EBIF B”"—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Interest expenses on MERX
— secured bank borrowing —BIRIRRITER 232 172
— other borrowing —HAMER 508 498
— lease liabilities —HEaE 17 22
— bank overdrafts —R1TEX 146 112
9203 804

1 76 CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

10. FREM (IB%) A%

2022 2021
—e-= S
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Current tax ENEAFR I8

PRC EIT R FPTISR 193 159
PRC LAT FR[EE + I (E R 3,053 59,663
3,246 59,822

Deferred taxation (note 29) IEIEFRIE (BPEE29)
Current year KEE (5,492) (22,563)
(2,246) 37,259

Under the two tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Tax provision for the prior year was
provided based on the assessable profits and unused tax
losses brought forward.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the
Group has no assessable profit for the years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "“EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. PRC LAT has been provided at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

REMBANNEREFINE cEREESEEA
#%2,000,00070 & M 8 #8.25% # R > M B 18
A H2,000,0007Cm A #216.5%E R o K 7T
EMBRFEREFNE2EREBR N BEE
U#H—ME16 5% - FTENRIBEREELE
REZRREN REEN R AREEEIR

HE-S--"GR-B-—5+-A=+—
A 1E 45 E ISR SR SR AHERE  RAS
24 8 [0 5 22 0 18 6 2 A 98 8 AR AR D o

BEBEPBEECEMRSRZE TREMERE) K&
TEMRMIREBRGEA  RmEFER > PE
Py B A BRI KT 25% ©

hE L EERERRRERTERE LR
R 5% ST B 2 4252 (E H i 3t - cHED 3098 R
B 3 o 0 4 {21 B #8309 560 % 0 1 1 7R 6
fEREE (WBETHRINRERAS) °

REBERBETEXERIREZ B NEF—H—
B i€ > R E Y /B A B 2Bt B B Z s F) P Bk
ZREHMIATR - FE M B HRR L AR5 E
MBABS R G B2 EREBRFHIEL
R0 T8 £ 4 181 K] 7 5 [ AE 5 1 1) 5 [0] B A5 £ R
ZBfE > MERZEAET I A 8RR R &
[ o

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

177



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Continued)

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as follows:

T HF+_RA=t+—HILFE

10. FREM (B%) A% (&

RERZAER (BR) AXBFEGEmER
BRI AT E R Z BRI T ©

2022 2021
B B
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Loss before taxation BRI% A BT 18 (77,715) (428,009)
Tax credit at the domestic income tax rate of 25% &7 PRSI IRE25%
(2021: 25%) (Note) (CTBZ—F:25%) 5t8>
RIBE 2 () (19,429) (107,002)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax RANRESZ 2 MBLE
purpose 588 3,063
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  JEERFIURA Z IRF5 222 (1,765) (246)
Provision of PRC LAT for the year F AR IS ER B 3,053 59,663
Tax effect of PRC LAT deductible for PRC EIT B Rt B (R PR R 0
hE T IR EIR 2 R E (763) (14,916)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not ZKFE2 BT 08 & R = 2
recognised N2 13,352 93,461
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMEIZEREE Y
operating in other jurisdiction (R EYNEIRNEILTE S -7 2,718 2,108
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERNBEBZRBEE - 1,128
Income tax (credit) expense FRiSi (E %) X (2,246) 37,259

Note: The domestic income tax rate (which is PRC EIT rate) in the

jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially
based is used.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
RMB308,040,000 (2021: RMB302,818,000) arising from
allowance recognised on properties held for sales and
approximately RMB119,213,000 (2021: RMB71,026,000)
arising from allowance recognised on properties under
development respectively.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to
such deductible temporary differences as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 29.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. FREE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging FREEEMNR GTA) X TRIE
(crediting):
2022 2021
—¥B__F TB-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TT
Directors’ emoluments (note 12a) EE=ME (IsE12a) 3,163 7,356
Other staff costs HMBE T piz 10,484 10,248
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREF B 986 845
14,633 18,449
Gross rental income from investment properties & EYEAEE S WA (163) (1,427)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for B FERELAESBRANKEEY =
investment properties that generated EENEREERS
rental income during the year 23 199
(140) (1,228)
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as RAREZNFIEHEMERAR
expenses (included in cost of sales) Gt AHE i AS) 51,625 154,900
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN & 1,356 1,162
Net foreign exchange loss ERRIEREE 62 -
Allowance recognised (reversed) under ECL model HEfthfEWIBTEHIE B EE
on other receivables TE N REER (BE[m) — B 419 (729)
Allowance recognised on properties P EL E Y =R EE
held for sale 5,222 302,818
Impairment loss recognised on properties MIE R =PRI ER R
under development 48,187 71,026
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-BERREBITE 736 746
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEITE 954 939
Expenses related to short-term leases FHATA S /BRI 784 806
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve

(2021: seven) directors and the chief executive were as
follows:

12.

(a)

EF FETHAEREEME

EERFETHRASME

BERAXER+ U (ZTE—F Lt EEk
ETBAEXMZMEWT :

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
4nER BU4GES
Mr. POON Mr. CHAR

Mr.PAN  Mr.CHEN  Mr. CHENG Mr. To Mr. LAU Mr. LIU Mr. LIU LaiYin,  ShikNgor, M. CHEN Mr. LEE Mr. YAU
Shimin Xian Chi Kin Kwan  Sai Chung Feng  Zhongxiang Michael Stephen Weijiang ~ ChunTung  Sze Yeung Total
BHREE REAE BFERE WAL AEREE BHKE  BHRE  EEERE EHERE REIAE  FREAL DRERE &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

(notes i) (notes iii) (notesix) ~ (notes v, vi) (note iv) (note iv) (note vii) (note viii) (notes x) (notes xi)
(ki) (i) (Msix)  Ofsvevi) (3w (M) (i) (i) (Mizx) (Htzxi)
For the year ended H#E-B-"%£4CR
31 December 2022 Z+-HIEFE
Directors' fees E - - - - - - - 66 76 153 8 7 451
Salaries and allowances HERER 514 987 M 381 139 17 i - - - - - 2,648
514 97 3 381 139 177 i3 66 7 153 8 74 3,099
Retirement benefits scheme BHERIHEIER
contributions 9 25 9 9 4 4 4 - - - - - 64
Total e 523 1,012 386 39 143 181 7 66 7 153 ) 7 3,163
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
E BuFsnES
Mr. POON Mr. CHAR
Mr. CHEN Mr. LAU Mr. LU Mr. LIU Lai Yin, Shik Ngor, Mr. CHEN
Xian  Sai Chung feng  Zhongxiang Michael Stephen Weijiang Total
BERE HUTEE  AREXE ARARE  EEERE THARE BRIRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(notes v, vi) (note iv) (note iv) (note vii) (note viii)
GEIND; (M) (MiEi) (ahii)  (fbii)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-F-—-%+-F=+-H
LLERE
Directors' fees EZit - - - - 147 147 147 441
Salaries and allowances HERER 1,936 1,746 2,32 805 S = 5 6,719
1,936 1,746 2232 805 147 147 147 7,160
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R ¢K2F It BT 49 49 49 49 - = S 196
Total st 1,985 1,795 2,281 854 147 147 147 7,35

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#



12.

(a)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(xi)

(xii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z— _fﬁ—f‘ B=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Pan Shimin was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 10 February 2022.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 17 June 2022.

Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Liu Zhongxiang resigned as executive
directors of the Company on 28 January 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 10 February 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung was also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael, resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 June 2022.

Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 June 2022.

Mr. To Kwan was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 15 June 2022.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 17 June 2022.

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 July 2022.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

12. EF -FETHAERESME @)

() EFRTFETHASME (&

0] EXFTRHITESEZME D BRERART RAE
EEBEERTAR  LXFIRBIFEATES
ZENRREREERRADETZRFEAM-

(ii) BERAENR _ZE-_F A THEZERTAT
BiTES-

(iif) BFREENR - _FAATLtREZERER
BI#ITES-

(iv) B AELERBEAEEN S _“_F—HF_-+/\H
BEFADATES-

v) HBREENR S _FEA+HBHERATHNT
B%-

(vi) R REBTBERTTHME LU EPRNEZ
M B R EFERITERSFMIRHERE 2 ME-

(viip  EEBRERTEZFXA
FERMITES-

HEHEXABBIL

(i)  BEHBEER T _FRA=THRERREE
TIRMTES-

(ix) MIBEER "2 " FRATEHEZERET AT
BiTES-

(x) FEPAEERE_EBAT+TREZEAREA
BIEILIERITES

(xi) BBBAER 2 _FLANBEZERET AT
BIIFRITES -

(i) ®EZE"_Fk-FT-—F+H=+—HIF
B #EIBZTRASREANEEHEXBDERE
FEBPI A 2B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE_E_ "+ _HA=+—HI-FE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2021: four) were directors and the chief
executive of the Company whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: one)
individual were as follows:

12. EF -FETBRAERESME (&

(b) EEME

rEELAESMNEBANIALTH =8 (2ZF
T—F AR BRERBDZEERIETHA
B REZMEER EXIIH - Rtzgms (=
T —F - EANATZMENT

2022 2021

—E-= B —F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREFTT AERBTT

Salaries and allowances b =] 926 971
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIAEHEHEHEHRR 64 48
990 1,019

Emoluments of the five individuals with highest emoluments
including directors were within the following bands:

I%EeMEENAL (BFEES) 2N
FUTHER :

Number of individuals
(including directors
and chief executive)

BIHE (BREEFEK

FETHASR)
2022 2021
B "B —F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z £ 11,000,00075 4 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 #161,000,00170E
71%1,500,00075 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 #162,000,00170E
751%2,500,00075 - 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 #12,500,00170E
78 13,000,0007T - 1
5 5

No emolument have been paid by the Group to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 34, no significant transaction,
arrangement and contract in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company and
the director’'s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

13. DIVIDEND

No dividends were declared and proposed by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and dilutive loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

12. EFFETHAEREEME (&

(b) EEME

EFRRG HHAEHBIEAXE D

SR ES4FTIRBEE N A AT EEFREEN
HELDBERERNERNEMEBDAFE
UERBRNEEANBASERITNTHA
FEBEFERNEARG ZHARENTE
FERHBENERED -

13. kB

ﬁxﬁi—v——i&—v—_¢+ H
=+—BLEFE > ARABES K &EIKEM
B TERSMAETERKEAMRE

14. SREE

ERBBEAEANBEESREARBEESGER
BUTHEE -

2022 2021
—BF BT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Loss EiE
Loss for the purposes of basic and st BEEREAREEEE
diluted loss per share ms 2 &8
— loss for the year attributable to owners of — AR REHEE ANEBILFEAEIE
the Company (55,768) (400,926)
Number of shares KRB
Weighted average number of share M EEREAREEHEEMS 2
for the purposes of basic and READ NORE &K
diluted loss per share 254,469,052 254,469,052
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for shares for both years.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases typically run
for an initial period of 3 to 5 years, with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to
extend.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end
of lease term.

14. BREE &
HEERBEFERYEBREAATZEBR
HETHE RRAZSEBEREZTEESNR
MErMEEEZzFEHHE-

15. REYE

AEERBEECEHERALTEERTLEA K
WS AER-—RZIESERF B HRE L
SHE MABALEEVRABREREES
MERZEREF - HAMEAITEIEREE > K
DHEGHNHE T HIRETIRR -

HEANIERARNGREEERK AR
AREERERFEEYENEEZ-

2022 2021
B ET”-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AREFT
FAIR VALUE [RE
At 1 January n—RA—H 4,400 74,400
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss ~ FRIERFESRZ A AEH D (938) (35,182)
Disposals HE (1,662) (24,761)
Transfer to investment properties held for sale HEETEHEREYE - (10,057)
At 31 December W+—_B=+—H 1,800 4,400

The fair values of the Group's investment properties of
approximately RMB1,800,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB4,400,000) have been arrived at on a basis
of valuation carried out by Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited, an independent professional property valuer not
connected with the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised the loss in fair value of approximately
RMB236,000 (2021: RMB32,814,000) in fair value
change on investment properties under other losses in the
consolidated profit and loss upon the disposal of investment
proprieties. The fair value change related to unrealised losses
of investment properties is approximately RMB702,000
(2021: RMB2,368,000) for the year.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the Valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs and data to
the model. The management reports the valuation report
and findings to directors semi-yearly to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
independent professional property valuer adopted the
investment approach for the properties which are currently
held for earning rental income and capital appreciation.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use. The fair values of investment properties
have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued
operating lease income to avoid double counting.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair
values of the investment properties were determined by
the independent professional property valuer by reference
to capitalised income to be derived from the tenancies and
the reversionary income potential of the properties.

The following tables give information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs and data
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs and data to the fair
value measurements is observable.

15. REWME &)
BE_E__F#+-_A=+—BLEFEE XK
EENHEREMEERNGEBENEMES
BETREVELAABEIRILAAES
BYANREMK236,0000 (ZE-_—F: AR
32,814,0007T) c EFRNEKEY E RS IRE I8
HEANAAEEEFH AL AREE702,00057T (=
T —F . ANR¥2,368,0007T) °

RESFEEZRAARER  ZEBRBIREZ
THEIERH B - HILETRAZE —RBARK
BoRAEBEZEEGEMETHE - EEER
BERIIBEEMERESFE URIGEZMG
BERTEREEZGABERBE - EEESYF
MEFERLGERSKER  UEBEEAR
BRFHZRE-

BE_ZT__ KRB —F+ZH=1—
BLEEE BYFEXYELEME A IFR
RESZWRARERBEZYERBREE

RIEFRENVEZANEBR  REVEZRSD
ReEREARHEERRAGZ KENENARE
EEBEE UK AMIETZ2EKEREK
AN BREEFFHE-

BE-"S-—&#R-B--—E+-F=+—
HIERE  BEMET ARBE BT EEY
HEEMSERAEBEEENE A LRAR
MEERBKAENTEE o

TRIITERMUNEEXSEREMELANE
ZEH (CHEGERMRMAH AERK
B URBERAANEFEFMRHAEREERN
HREEDEZAREAEMBARESFTR
(B—MREB=MH) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. KREWZE &)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE__HF+”"A=+—H
Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
HERTREEHAMR _ 8
5 RAE RREER  REE EXFIHREAE (NEFI9E) HEE
RMB’000
ARBTR
Retail stores 1,800 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 4.0% A slight increase in term yield would
in the PRC B income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair
KAz ZERE the net income and made value, and vice versa
provisions for reversionary THkGREEERNAEAR
income potential B RZT R

REE-BFWABWAE
RERMERBNEE
LB

2. Reversionary yield 5.5% A slight increase in reversionary
2. BRWE yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

1§Emllﬁlmfﬂﬁiﬁ AREKXE

A RZI *
3. Unit rent RMB31 to A significant increase in unit rent
3. Bfifig RMB39  would result in significant increase

AEE317TE  in fair value and vice versa.
ARE397 BUESAREMEERARE
RIBEM RZ MR

4. Monthly market rent RMB38 A significant increase in the market
4. BRMHER AE387c  rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa.
MHHRE KB MEER R A E
KIBEM R 2 T59R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z— _fﬁ—f‘ B=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021

15. KREYE @)

R ZE_—F+ZH=+—H

Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
EERITREEAAE #E
85 RAE RREER  REE EXFIHRBAE (NETI9E) HEE
RMB’000
ARETR
Retail stores 4,400 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 4.0% A slight increase in term yield would
in the PRC F=MH income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair

RHEZzZEE the net income and made
provisions for reversionary
income potential

REE-BFWABWAE
KERMEFBAENE
i

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the

years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

2. Reversionary yield 5.0%
2. EERE

3. Unit rent RMB29 to
3. Bfifig RMB43
AEE297TE

AR#43TT

4. Monthly market rent RMB50
4. BRATHEE AR50

value, and vice versa B
EHN BRSNS EARE
B RZ TR

A slight increase in reversionary
yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

versa.
ERNERERENARERE
AL RZTRRe

A significant increase in unit rent
would result in significant increase
in fair value and vice versa.

BAESABEMRERANE
KB K275

A significant increase in the market
rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa.

MIHHEE KRB MEER QR E
KRB R 2 T59R

ﬁi—v——E&—v—_$+ B=1t—

HEFE HMESANBEHE =4
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. YE - -BERRE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Motor
buildings improvements  Equipment Furniture vehicles Total
etttk
BF HE%EE xfE & AE g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETr ARETr AREFTx ARETR ARETR ARETR
cosT A&
At 1 January 2021 RZ2_-F-A-H 20,209 873 1,686 167 2,991 25,926
Exchange differences ERER (648) (28) @) = = (678)
Additions RE = = 109 = 3 112
At 31 December 2021 and RZB_—%
1 January 2022 +ZA=1+—-8k
& "£-A-H 19,561 845 1,793 167 2,994 25,360
Exchange differences ERER 1,665 7 2 = = 1,739
Additions NE - - 6 - = 6
At 31 December 2022 AZECCE
TP == 21,226 917 1,801 167 2,99 27,105
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R
At 1 January 2021 R_E_—&—A-H 5,444 873 1,461 167 1,338 9,283
Exchange differences ERER (182) (28) @) = = 212)
Provided for the year ENEE 421 = 51 = 274 746
At 31 December 2021 and RZB_—%
1 January 2022 +ZA=1+—-8k
&2 "£-A-H 5,683 845 1510 167 1,612 9,817
Exchange differences EREE 502 72 4 - = 578
Provided for the year FREE 429 - 48 - 259 736
At 31 December 2022 S
=B == 6,614 917 1,562 167 1,871 11,131
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZE
+-B=+-AH 14,612 - 239 - 1,123 15,974
At 31 December 2021 RoEZ—F
+-B=+-H 13,878 - 283 - 1382 15,543
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
their estimated residual values, at the following useful lives or
rates per annum:

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease or 50 years

Over the shorter of the term of
the leases or 5 years

Leasehold land
and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Equipment 18% to 25%
Furniture 18% to 25%
Motor vehicles 10%

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong.

Leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately RMB14,612,000 (2021: RMB13,878,000)
have been pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group.

16. ME- -KEKRsHE &

5T

(@) M EME BB RRFEEB T st R A5 FIERE
BEREUATIERFHNFRUEGENE !

MELIMKRET  RIEERIHS0E
UBIEE R )

HEXE BB E
UBIEE )

B4 18%E25%

®E 18%E25%

_E 10%

(b) HE TR AEFIMAREH o

© HE L RIEF 2 MEREEX AR K14,612,00070
—E-—F: AR513,878,00070) EfFRETE
EE—RITEEZIER -

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —F- 3R

189



190

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS FERESE
Leased Office
properties  equipment Total
HEME MWIERE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARETT ARBTT
At 31 December 2022 R-Z2__#+”“H=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 330 8 338
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—+"A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 1,217 12 1,229
For the year ended BEZZ"—
31 December 2022 +_HB=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge mEER 949 5 954
For the year ended BE_ZT_—F
31 December 2021 +ZR=+—HLHFE
Depreciation charge mEEA 934 5 939
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Expense relating to short-term lease FEHATR S AERERM 784 806
Total cash outflow for leases HEREMEAEEE 1,801 1,778
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFAEEE = 1,825

The leased properties and office equipment are depreciated
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term using the straight-line method.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
leases a staff quarter, an office, car parking spaces and
a copier (2021: a staff quarter, an office, car parking
spaces and a copier) for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for original fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB349,000
(2021: RMB1,242,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB338,000 (2021:
RMB1,229,000) as at 31 December 2022. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets cannot be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly enters into short-term leases for
warehouse. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to be completed in the
normal operating cycle.

Properties under development substantially represent
the cost of the land situated at JIXIANG-23, Maoming
Jixiang District* (&5 1¥#/N&)in the PRC (the “PRC
Land”) and costs incurred for construction work. As at 31
December 2022, properties under development were not
scheduled for completion within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold land taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

* The English name is for identification purpose only

17. FREEE &
THERHI o324

I > RZE_—_F+_A=+—H5&#
WARIME3349,000c (ZEZ—F: AR
1,242,00070) M EGBEHZEMERES
EHNARM338,000 0 (ZE - —F: AR
1,229,00070) R - BREBAAFBFHEEEEDN
KR MR S TH & 1558 0 % A6 N0 AR T 2255 o
MEEEASBEERZEER-

rEBTEHARBET UEHEE - R -
FRIBZ—F+TRA=+—H ' EHESW
HMEHEN ERBENEHEERXNEREE
HEEEL e

18. TEEWME FEHEME FEHE
REYE

BN BB AE R R RIS 2 BRI E
EEBMANTH HERNERRBEESD
2

AFEYETEBEEMARFTRAREGTSTHENE
JIXIANG-23 2 £ (THRE £3#)) REETRE
FREEMNE A RN _E-__F+_-_/F=+—
B EEYMEXRFEI N ERSHBRES -2
BERTETI-

& 1 A9 BR [ 8 LA AL AR 1 7] R 5 3T B &
ERRAEBRFE - FNFEBEERESEE LM
BoOWESHHEBE - ERIN_FT -
+ZRA=+T—HBNMEERGEE BHELHA
SHRITEER CE-—F:|)o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

Properties held for sale/investment properties held for sale
are situated on leasehold land in the PRC. Properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value while investment properties held for sale are stated
at their fair values with reference to the selling prices
contracted in the sale and purchase agreements signed on
or before the end of the reporting period.

The Group engaged Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited,
an independent professional property valuer, which has
appropriate qualification and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The
properties held for sale were valued individually on market
value basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, in
view of continuous slow turnover of the properties held for
sale and downturn of the property market in the PRC, the
management of the Group then assessed the net realisable
values of the properties held for sale and properties under
development as at 31 December 2021 and 2022, with
reference to the valuations conducted by an independent
professional property valuer. The net realisable values
of the Group’s properties held for sale and properties
under development were arrived at by the independent
professional property valuer with reference to transaction
prices of comparable properties in the similar or same
locations with adjustments made according to nature of
each property and its specific location and condition.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
management of the Group, after considering the results
of valuations conducted by the Valuer and recent Sales
transactions, has determined that the net realisable
values of properties held for sales and properties under
development are less than their carrying amounts
and an allowance of approximately RMB5,222,000
(2021: RMB302,818,000) and RMB48,187,000 (2021:
RMB71,026,000) has been recognised in the profit or loss
respectively.
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18. TEEYE FEHEME FHEHE
REME (@

RFHEME FELEREMEDLUNF
Bl HE T FFHEY E LU A K P&
REEURBESE) IR MEFLERSE
METNBERRERXR A BT EE W
EEINZEBRAREBEY R

AEBCZREBLIEXYEMKERNOrton
Appraisals Holdings Limited #EBSEH
B URREHMUNRBBUENHIYEE
ﬁﬁigﬁ’ﬂ,@%ﬁO?Tirf’ﬁﬁ’%#@ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁ—@
A& & o

BHE_ZE - FRIZEZTF+ZRA=1—
BEFE BERFEHEYEREBRFBEURF
BEMETEZNTE ~&EEEEEBERE2E
ﬁi%%%%%@%%ﬁ@%&ﬁﬁ%hﬁ
HEYERERTIYWER_SE_—FK_

T TCE+ " RB=+—HWOUERFE x%u
FEHEYEREREFYEZTEIRFEH
BUEEYEGEME2EMNRBEKAAR
MENALERYEZRZER  UKRRESE
MENEEREFTENAMAE N EHFTIEN R
BEMER-

BE _FT__F+_A=t—HLEFE> $
EEEEEKEEBIGEMET ZHES
%&?&H}Hﬁﬁ“%é E#Ehf’ﬁﬁ’iwﬁ

IE,E/‘?E i) JEE iﬁJ\EWS 222 ,000
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AR #48,187,000c (ZE - —F : AR
71,026,0007T) Z #E o
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19. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. ¥EE -HtEWRRIERBAMRIE
PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
—E-C T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®ETT
Other receivables (Note 1) HahgEugars (sE1) 14,264 17,984
Less: impairment losses recognised, net B BRESRERE P EB (1,358) (905)
12,906 17,079
Deposits and prepayments (Note 2) BEREMHRE (fsE2) 1,933 11,955
Value-added tax receivables FEWIE (ERR 19,650 15,266
34,489 44,300
Notes: Mk -

1. It includes loan receivables of approximately RMB861,000 1. BER B _F+A=1+T—HAYXERK

F 2 EWERAARKES61,0007t (CE-—F A
FE1£2,882,0007T) c ZEMIBEA R B~ BIEHRAR
+ @B REE

(2021: RMB2,882,000) extended to the buyers of properties
as at 31 December 2022. The amounts are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable within twelve months.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set H AR UGRIERY R B A B & M 5E41(b) o
out in note 41(b).

BER_E__F#+_A=+—HARBEEEHN
BT S ARS50,000T (CTEZ—F AR
10,000,0007T) ©

2. It includes a deposit paid of approximately RMB550,000 2
(2021: RMB10,000,000) for purchasing sugar as at 31
December 2022.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. BARBEFABGZZMBEE
2022 2021
—E-= —m——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETr ARBTT
Listed securities held for trading: FERZ 2z LS .
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REB LM ZRAEFES 3,821 4,313
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

21. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT

As at 31 December 2022, the restricted bank deposit
represents a guarantee deposit for the construction of
project required to be placed in a designated bank account
by the PRC Construction Bureau of Maoming City* (F1[
REMERB). The amount will be released upon the
bank receiving the certificate of property ownership.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no restricted
bank deposit for the construction of project required
to be placed in a designated bank account by the PRC
Construction Bureau of Maoming City.

Restricted bank deposit carries interest at a market rate of
0.25% (2021: nil) per annum.

* The English name is for identification purpose only

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, BANK
BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK
OVERDRAFTS

As at 31 December 2022, pledged bank deposits
amounting to approximately RMB3,924,000 (2021:
RMB4,482,000) have been pledged to guarantee the
mortgage loans granted by the banks to the customers of
the Group and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at a market rate of
0.25% (2021: 0.30%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged
from 0.05% to 0.39% (2021: 0.01% to 0.30%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2021, bank overdrafts carry interest at
HIBOR plus 3%, effectively at 3.06%, per annum.

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Central Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations. The Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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21. EBREIRITER

RZEZ__F+ZA=+—H BRHERTHE
MIEAFATEHXETERBIEERTRS
NARIEERZRERZ -ZRER N RTI
Y EFT R R RELR -

NZE_—F+"-A=+—H ®x&EBULEE
FATRBEXETERBEECRITRARAR
TREBRZARHRITER

BERHBTEMETEENK0.25% (ZF
“—FIT)FR

22. EBEARITER RITEERREU
RIRITER

RZEFFTZR=+—H REOARE
3,924,000 (ZZ2 - —F : AK¥4,482,000
) X BIRIFIRITERCFRE  UIEFRRT
AAEEERFFHZERER HILEI2BHR

EREETEREDTBEEFNZE0.25% (ZF
T—%F:0.30%) B

BITHEERTHRENXR0.05%F0.39% (ZE
T—® :0.01%FE0.30%) 5t R

R TEBE_—F+-R=+—H RTEXESE
BRITEEHFEMEFK3% (BERRB3.06%)
%‘I—/%\O

ARBERBINERBT(REARKLMEIINE
BEEFEAN) R(EE-EERNTEEERE) °
AEBRZEBEEETIHEERH ZRITR MR
ARBSHMER -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES B REMEMRRIE

2022 2021

—E-— _E e
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®T
Trade payables BRI 8,069 7,404
Value-added tax payable FETIZER 39,720 38,099
Other tax payables HENIRIE 3,040 2,798
Other payables H & TRIE 14,217 10,313
Accrued charges FEst & A 86,096 87,589
151,142 146,203

Credit periods granted to the Group by suppliers range

from 0 to 180 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

HEBETAEROEIBOKRZIEER -

RBREHAZESBRARBZEZEHRET
ZEREDHWMT

2022 2021

—¥B__F TB-—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFT ARBTT

Within 90 days 90K UM 8,069 7,404

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2. EHER

2022 2021

—E-C —EB—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTT ARBTT

Receipts in advance for sales of properties HEMFETAWRIE 32,496 56,718

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB56,718,000.

Contract liabilities decreased during the year ended 31
December 2022 because the Group focused on delivering
the properties held for sale to the customers and the
amounts significantly outweighed the amounts received in
advance from pre-sale of properties in prior year.

Contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group's normal operating cycle.

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 that was included in the contract liabilities
balances at 1 January 2022 and 2021 amounted to
approximately RMB53,906,000 and RMB18,867,000
respectively.

25. OTHER BORROWING

Other borrowing from an independent third party
amounted to approximately RMB8,844,000 (2021:
RMB8,150,000) which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
6% per annum and repayable on 30 April 2023 (2021:
repayable on 30 April 2022).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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KRB —F—H—R GHERANARE
56,718,0007T °

BE_FT__F+_A=+—HLEFE ST ,\’J
BEAMBEL THRAEBRFEINAZTRAR
HRFHEYE Eé&%ﬁikmaﬁ\@t—fﬁfgﬁ
EMEZTRWRIEA

RN EaERNAEBEC EEREBERN
‘;% TE =
FARE__FER_ZFE-—F—F—H®

BHNEBRERNBE_ZE__FR-F " —
F+A=+—HBLFEEHIKRTZIIB
# NER 153,906,000t X AR 18,867,000
JT ©

25. HthfEmR

—LBIUFEF=ZFRHEEAMEFOARE
8,844,0007t (Z& - —4% . AR%8,150,000
7o) CERARBEABRIETF > BEAE6%TE 1L
BR_E_=ZFNWB=-1+HEE(ZZE=—
FIARSE__FNHB=+HEE) -
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. THE&®E
2022 2021
—E-- —gzd
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREBTFT ARETT
Lease liabilities payable: FENHEEEE !
Within one year —FR 344 921
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E BB B8 M & HAFH 5 316
More than two years, but not exceeding MEREBANBELFIRE
five years - 5
349 1,242
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 monthsiE : 731218 3 R EIEREE R RIS
shown under current liabilities FRsafE iR (344) (921)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months P12E B % B H B ENFIE
shown under non-current liabilities (FRIEREEEIE TR 5 321

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities is 3.52% (2021: 3.52%).

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON- 27.
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts represent the advances from the non-
controlling interests in respect of acquisition of the
PRC Land and construction cost for properties under
development which are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed repayment term.

It includes the amount of approximately R\MB49,500,000
(2021: RMB46,500,000) due to non-controlling interests of
the subsidiary, which is also the substantial shareholder of
the Company.

HEERBERZMETIHES(

352% (& -—4 :3.52%) ¢

FEAT IR 42 M 1 AR

ER

ZEMIETE A B B T ith 2 SR 4 fl 1
mEREMARERYENERRAS  AEEF %
BB EEEENRER -

HEEENWEBEAR (MAXABD EFERE)
EEHI MR RIEL AR ®49,500,00070(=
T —4 : ANRE¥46,500,0007T)°
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28. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 28. FHIRWMIRITME™R
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Secured bank loan BIERIRITER
— Variable-rate borrowings —FEFIEER 12,184 8,020
Carrying amount of bank loan that contain a HAEBRERBEMKRREER
repayment on demand clause (shown under THIBEZRITEM
current liabilities) but repayable: ZEREE WRSBHasET
FER) -
— Within one year ——FRN 5,356 865
— More than one year, but not exceeding two ——F BB BiE M E AR
years 982 884
— More than two years, but not exceeding five —MEBERBE A FHAR
years 3,084 2,779
— More than five years —hFBIAME 2,762 3,492
Amount shown under current liabilities RREhBaEE NR &5 12,184 8,020

The Group's variable-rate borrowings carry interest at
3-month HIBOR plus 1.75% per annum or 1-month HIBOR
plus 3.00% per annum (2021: 3-month HIBOR plus 1.75%

FEBZIHNXERDR=_MBERAEBIRT
BEFEMENZKI1.75%H— B8 EBERT
BEFEMENE3I 0% (ZEZ—F : =@

e

per annum). BEBRITHAEREMENE1.75%) 5t E o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal AEEERERANX (HTFHER SO X)
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowing are #EMT -
as follows:
2022 2021
—g_C —ECF
Effective interest rate BRH=
~ Variable-rate borrowings — T BRI R BN 1.99% t0 7.46%  2.29% t02.31%
1.99%F7.46%  2.29%=E2.31%
29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. REMIA
2022 2021
—E_C " —
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIAE R 6,169 11,661

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current

5 MBS IR R I 5L

T TF+R=+t—HILFE

29. RERIE (&

RAEE BREINTEEEREEERES
U

il

year:

Fair value
adjustments Change in
arising from  fair value of
PRC LAT properties  investment
provision  held for sale properties Total
BifE  REWEZ
hELH  HEWMEZ [RME
EREE ARKERE £ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AREBTT ARETx
1 January 2021 R-B-—£—F—H (363) 21,051 13,536 34,224
Charge (credit) to profit or loss RERNR GtA) 1,828 (11,480) (12,911) (22,563)
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ-£+"A=+—-Hk
1 January 2022 “E_"%—B—H 1,465 9,571 625 11,661
Credit to profit or loss I1EgEE A (46) (5,019) (427) (5,492)
At 31 December 2022 RZE2ZZ&#+ZA=+—H 1,419 4,552 198 6,169

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately RMB36,635,000 (2021: RMB35,837,000)
available for offset against future profits. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
RMB5,132,000 (2021: RMB5,291,000) with expiry dates
as disclosed in the following table. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses as at 31 December

R_E__F+_B=+—H ' AEBEXH
BRIEEELN AR36,635,000T (T8~ —
£ AR M%35,837,0007T) °] B VEHE 88 ok 2R i
MeoBEIEBRHEE AHIARNEBEEE
RN ARKES,132,0000 (ZCE-Z—F : AR
#5,291,00070) » EIBAE M FTRIFE - HMEs
B ERREEBE R _ S -+ _/B=1+—
=R EEE%EXIE’JFIJBEE)%ZKEHE%D'IE’\‘/%ﬁt

2022 (2021: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit

Z ﬁ &5 ?E Eﬁ gt 2T

BRIEMBEE (T _-—F

streams. #E) o
2022 2021
—EICE B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT
2022 TECTF - 159
2023 TET=F 184 184
2024 —E % 50 50
2025 _EHRTF 386 386
2026 TETRE 4,512 4512
5,132 5,291
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB100,935,000 (2021:
RMB84,114,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

29. IRIEFRIA (&2

RIF(PRBEMBREY BZEENE—HA—
HiE B E M B A ST BEE M A B E IR R
EHWFENR RN AEEEM TG LR =8B
MBI REREREAIER Y RARKRE A
[B] > #4182 Tk A B A9 A R #6100,935,0005T (&
——8F . AR84,114,0007T) WHERB AT E
SR BN E R EEN GRS M BRRANIRE
JEFRIEHE M o

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. K&
Equivalent to
Number of HER
shares HK$'000 RMB'000
BeE BT ARETT
Ordinary shares of HK$1 each SRABI T LB
Authorised: A
At 1 January, 2021, 31 December 2021, A ZE-—F—-F-—H
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 - -F+ZRA=+—-8-
B "H-A-HK
“E-H+"B=1+—H 300,000,000 300,000 281,070
lssued and fully paid: BETREE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R_E_—F—F—H-
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 “ZT-F+ZA=+—-8B>
“T"F#-A-BR
T+ ZA=1+—H 254,469,052 254,469 222,157

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group to maintain its listing status on the Stock Exchange
is that it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the
shares. Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Group and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has maintained sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022 as required under the
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme (the “2009 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 November 2009. The 2009 Share Option
Scheme remained in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of adoption of the 2009 Share
Option Scheme from 30 November 2009 (that is from 30
November 2009 to 29 November 2019).

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted a total of
64,000,000 share options to subscribe for 64,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company to certain
eligible individuals without vesting conditions under the
2009 Share Option Scheme.

The 2009 Share Option Scheme was terminated and a new
share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2019. The 2019 Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from the date of
adoption of the 2019 Share Option Scheme from 29 May
2019 (the “Date of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019
to 28 May 2029). Following the termination of the 2009
Share Option Scheme, no further options will be granted
under such scheme, but in all other respects the provisions
of the 2009 Share Option Scheme will remain in full force
and effect and options granted prior to such termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable.

On 16 October 2020, the Company held an extraordinary
general meeting and approved the consolidation of every
ten issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company into one consolidated
share of HK$1.00 in the share capital of the Company. The
share consolidation became effective on 20 October 2020.

31. FBRiEstE

EEkastd (T2 NEBERESE) ER
EABDR_EEAF+-—RB=+HET2ZK
RBERGLEEEARTRERM - _ T
BRESEHE _FEAF+T—BA=THHE®
“ETABRESIBRESTEHRE (BN
EENET+—A=tHEZ-E-—NAE+—A8
“t+hAB) RBABEN-

RZE—+tELtRA+=H ' AAFRE_ZZ
NEBERESTEEE S364,000,00017 B AL #
FTEFLEERAL LIEEG64,000,0008
AATIEREEBEKOIOTZEZER  TER
& 15

“ETNBRESIER L MFERES
g (ITZ=—hBERESE ) ERNERANZ
E-NERR-+NHBEGZREBEKRE
EREARBDRERP - —_ - NEBERESS
B-Z-AFRAZ+NAB (MRMBEBH) K
M_T—NBRESEIHBRES -FHE (B
—E-AFERART+AHEZE-AEREAR
“+NB)AMAEN ZEE A ERES S
RIEB TBREZSAIREEAERE B
TEFREEMAE —SENERESEINEE
DB+ RMADRER & LEATR LAY R &
R EAMNER T

RIZEZEF+AT B AR RTRRF
ARELHERAERTDREAPFETRKRERE
BABONOTZERTRAETERER S H
mERBREFT-—REREEBE1.00TZ
aHRp -RHEHNK _E_FEFE+AZ+H
FIYEERL
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors consider, in its sole
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group)
options to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Date of Adoption and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding
for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.
The subscription price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and will not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
of the closing price of the shares quoted on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date and (iii) the closing price of the
shares on the grant date.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the number of share
options granted and remained outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and the 2019 Share Option Scheme
are 6,400,000 and 6,400,000 respectively after adjusting
for the effect of the share consolidation on 20 October
2020. No share option has been exercised under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, all the outstanding share options
granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme and the
2019 Share Option Scheme has lapsed during the year. No
options has been granted and cancelled during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

No options under the 2009 Share Option Scheme and
2019 Share Option Scheme has been granted, cancelled or
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. BRESE @

The following table discloses movements of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022: FEZZT-NERESE 22BN -

Number of share options

TRREB#E_ZT__F+_A=+—HIL

BREHE
Balance Balance
as at Granted Lapsed Adjusted as at Exercise
Category of 1 January during during during 31 December price
participants Date of grant 2022 the year the year the year 2022 Exercise period  per share
R-E_ZE
RIEZZE +ZA
—R-H =+-H gk
2EEER =) &R FRERE  EABXM  EREHRE AT S 7B
Directors 13 July 2017 4,500,000 = (4,500,000) - - 13y 2017 to 2.50
8% b o5 12 July 2022
tA+=H “2—+tF
tB+=H%
_BCF
tA+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 1,900,000 - (1,900,000) - - 3 July 2017 to 2.50
== S of 3 12 July 2022
tA+=H “2—+tF%
tB+=H%
ZEICE
tA+ZH
6,400,000 - (6,400,000) - -
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021:

31. BRiEstE @

TEREBBE_ZE_—F+B=+—HL
FE_Z-NERESIZEHBR

Number of share options
BREHNE
Balance Balance Exercise
as at Granted Exercised as at price
Category of 1 January during during 31 December per share
participants Date of grant 2021 the year the year 2021 Exercise period HK$
RIZZ-F
RZB_—& +Z2A
—R—H =+-H BRTEE
SHEEER et Z&EH  ERERY  EABOE A Sy BT
Directors 13 July 2017 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000  13July 2017 to 2.50
8% “Z—tFtA+=H 12 July 2022
“EtE
tB+=H%
S
tA+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 1,900,000 - - 1,900,000  13July 2017 to 2.50
(=] “Z—tFtA+=H 12 July 2022
“E2tf
tB+=HZ
“ETCF
tA+ZH
6,400,000 - - 6,400,000
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
its Hong Kong employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and its employees makes monthly mandatory
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory contributions from
each of the employers and employees are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month. During the year ended 31
December 2022, a total contribution of approximately
RMB587,000 (2021: RMB775,000) was made by the Group
in respect of this scheme.

During the vyear, there were no forfeited contributions
which arose upon employees leaving the scheme prior to
their interests in the Group's contribution becoming fully
vested and which are available to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group in future years.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute to a state-
managed retirement plan for all its employees at a
certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to all retired
employees. Under the state-managed retirement plan, the
Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
a total contribution of approximately RMB463,000 (2021:
RMB266,000) was made by the Group is respect of this
scheme.

32. EAREFFE
R

AEBLZHEEARESERBTEARGFELTE
HBKPBRENRELTE Bt E B
RAEHDENRTE BHBUITAETE R
EaEests SEENBLARAKRERERESAH
HIREBEBEZS%Z2WA (EERBHIEA
B E8EA) FHRFIMRF BEETREES
ZERZAFERTUSHEEBEE1,500T AR
BE_S__F#+_A=+—HLEE &
EERILs B EH LA AR K587,0007T
(ZE-—%F: AR¥775,0007T) °

REFEE BENEENRAEREHRERTTH
7 & B B 59 5t 8 ok WAL RR - m = B) A PR30 BR
AERRKRREEBIBMHER

RE > fRE B

RIBTPBENEOEERRE FENEBAEA
BAFMEREMIKEZBERBAKRERHEI/E
EHFH - HEREALAREELAHFSNE—8EH
tbe-ERENKREBAEESEOMEERKEES
HFrEERRKE AEEBEREKREHNtE 2
T AEBREEEHRINFTBHEME R ENK
S HFBKREEFMEH T A E— T RKIE &
E_E__F#+_A=+—HLEE KxEH
FUILSTBIER BT AR 463,000 (=
T~ —&F . ARE#¥266,0007T) °
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33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain assets of the
Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group and to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which
guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks as
follows:

33. KREE

REREHMAR AEBZETEEEBFER/ERT
AEERTEERNSEOAEEAYEETE
HREZZENE (THAEERRITRMIE
fR) ZI|WWT ¢

2022 2021
g —E"—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
For banking facilities IRITIERMZ
Leasehold land and buildings HE T REF 14,612 13,878
For mortgage facilities EIEHET =
Pledged bank deposits BIERIEITEM 3,924 4,482

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

34. RIEFKE

HE_ZT__— —_E_—F+-"B=+—
HEFE EFhEMTEESEERE M=
mr

Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEE K S Z
2022 2021
—EBIF B”"—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREFTT
Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMEYI E 4,025 8,131
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREFFHEIHRR 128 244
4,153 8,375

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Related party transactions and balances

Other than the disclosures in notes 12, 27 and 34, amounts
due to directors and amount due to a former director,
disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand, there were no other significant related party
balances or transactions.

35. COMMITMENTS

Operating leasing arrangements
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately RMB163,000 (2021: RMB1,427,000). The
properties held had committed leases mainly running for
the three to five years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

34. BEHHKE &

MRER R 7 RASER

FREVEE12 27 RBAPTIREEZE RN IZEMBR
MEREBERIF RERBAREREEZRE
NEEFHEREMN —RAEESTMEN > HE
EREMBERBESBERHRZS

35. K

EHE R

KEFEZLHFEAN
RERNBIRZZ2YEHEHSRAAELG AR
163,000 (ZEZ—%F : AR®1,427,000
TT) o FiIEMEIAEZEHEBTIENFE=ET
Fo

HERUKRBIREEMRNT

2022 2021

—=E-C B —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTT AR®BTT

Within one year —FR 5 86
In the second year BF - 78
In the third year B=F - 82
In the fourth year Eejusfas - 35
In the fifth year BHF — -
5 281
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35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
Other commitments
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

following capital commitments for development of
properties:

35. &KiE (&
Hith&iE

T

REREHAR AEEREYEZERKEN

2022 2021
—E-— —_=EF_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Contracted for but not provided in the BN ERBEASHMBRE
consolidated financial statements SRR 295,205 316,705

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's maximum
obligations in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to
certain purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
approximately RMB41,814,000 (2021: RMB80,814,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group'’s
properties and pledged its bank deposits and properties
to the relevant banks. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties owned by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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EYECETEREREBEZEBERZRS
SEEMHAREEAL1,814,0000 (ZE_—F . A
R 180,814,0007T) ©

RBERR *EBERETRTAEERYE
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36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

Under the above arrangement, the bank deposits were
pledged to the banks as securities on the mortgage loans.
Upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer the
pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell the
properties through open auction. The Group is obliged to
repay the banks for the shortfall if bank deposits and the
proceeds from selling the properties through the auction
cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans, and ends upon the earlier
of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to
purchasers, which will generally be available within one
to two years after the purchasers take possession of the
relevant properties; and (i) the settlement of mortgage
loans between the mortgage banks and the purchasers.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote;
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception
of these guarantee contracts and at the end of the each
reporting period.

The Company engaged an independent professional
valuer, Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected with the Group, to
assess the fair values of the financial guarantees of the
Group and the directors of the Company concluded that
the effect is insignificant, and accordingly, no provision
for guarantee has been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

36. MBERMEELN (E

REBEXLZE BRARTEFREFERRIBEM
ZHEARBERFRT - HZFERREEERS
mE ASRTTARBRBIRTERRYMERETE
FROVAIZEBARPEZRITNYE > SR
TREBERYESETFTAER EMEXERZS
BARPEHEZFYER HIRTERRBE
HEMEFMSMBEZBAERAEEZRBE
TEREFAMNERIR AAEBRARRTE
BAE

AEBZERPEBRLAEBRIBEERBD R
B EUTRERREREAL (IBDERE
HEMEFMBERE —MRRNERBEEERDE
B—EMEAFL; RINEBRBIRTRE
RZBHNLBER

EERR rEEZSMTERGNZANE
RYOFTEIEHMFIRE BEFBRITNES
B Z A BB/ FIE - R EE R ] 1L
FHRGNRFRN SRS HRES -

KRB EZEBEBMMNorton Appraisals
Holdings Limited (£ 7s%E B % B E B 1L
SEXGEM FHAEEMBRERZANE
BARBIEERATXENAER FAIEHER
REMBHRRTERDIEREE
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022

A — —

— S — —

EATREEMBATZEFE

ER-B-—&+-A=+—8H

and 2021 are as follows: ZEERBATFMAERWMT
Place of
establishment/ Issued and fully
incorporation/ Class of paid capital/ Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company  Principal activities
R/
Bl ERTRBERS/
WEAERE B BERHERN ARER AT RA EEE LA TELH
2022 2021
k- et B —F
Directly Directly
B E#

Techwayson Management Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
Limited &8 ZiEk 7#1%10,0007T RIHEERH

EHKZEEERAT

Techwayson Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of raw cane sugar

BERESARAT &8 BER 71£10,00070 ]

Weina Land Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Property holding

FBREERAT EF BRER 7#£10,0007 MEER

Maoming Huada Real Estate The PRC Contributed capital  RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property development and investment
Development Limited** (“Maoming & BAER AR #50,000,0007T MERBRERE
Huada")

pEAEYN NG
4 ZEN)

Maoming Shang Cheng Real The PRC Contributed capital - RMB30,000,000 65% 65% Property development and investment
Estate Company Limited*# FE NS AR 30,000,0007T WERERRE
(“Maoming Shang Cheng")

X LHEEERAT
(M L3

Shenzhen Qianhai Shang Cheng The PRC Contributed capital  RMB38,000,000 65% 65% Trading of sugar
Supply Chain Management FE BAER AE38,000,0007% FRES
Limited*# (“Shenzhen Qianhai")

RIEE LR E
BRAR (TRYIAE)

d The English name is for identification purpose only R BBEMHHT

i These companies were established in the PRC as non-wholly ZEABIRIHEMRILZ FHIEE R

sino-foreign owned enterprises.
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority
of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised
as follows:

Principal activities

Principal place of business

37. ZREEEMBRARZHE &

ERBINARFEEXR/IBRELTERE
BHEEZAEBENBRAE AADEERH
SIHEMMBATENKSREBN IR

B A B QB EAFAENEFRNEFE
BAEERNAREERBEES-

REBESHR ZRAEHEAEEMEIABER
ZHMHBABS ZSEWBRAAZHNETER
TEEE ZEMBARZEEZEBHAN
S :

Number of subsidiaries

FEER FEEEME MEARHE
2022 2021
g —E T4
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
REER BE
Investment holding The British Virgin Islands 1 1
REER REBEUHES
Investment holding The PRC 3 3
REER HhE
5 5
Inactive Hong Kong 1 1
mER B
Inactive The British Virgin Islands 1 1
T EEBRELES
Inactive Cambodia 1 1
|mER IR
Inactive The PRC 2 2
mER HhEl
5 5
10 10
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

T HF+_RA=t+—HILFE

38. JE#ZEHIEER
TRITEEAFEZH MRS ARERES

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling BB AR zEMER !
interests:
Proportion of ownership  Total comprehensive
interests and voting (expense) income
Place of incorporation and rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary principal place of business controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interest
FERREMSEER AR THINMRLZ
WERE % Bl EERRAELA 2E (A% BALSE REtIFmI R
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Z§-Z& TST-F B T ZEIZF TZT-E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARBFRT ARETR
Maoming Huada The PRC
RARER HE 10% 10% 245  (36173) 11,082 11,327
Maoming Shang Cheng The PRC
% L HE 35% 35% (17916) (27572  (35213)  (1735))
(18,161) (63,745) (24,191) (6,030)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are

set out below.

BERFEFMREZAERANBLAS 2/
BEMBERHINW T

2022 2021
== —EB—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Maoming Huada RBEK
Current assets MENE E 263,965 298,461
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,057 5,939
Current liabilities REEE (150,043) (179,476)
Non-current liabilities ERHERE (6,169) (11,661)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABHER ANEILER 99,728 101,936
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEIEFIME R (L R 11,082 11,327
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

4= A
e [

— = — —

e —

38. JEEEWIMER 2

A5 ER R MIEE

F+TA=1T—HL=EE

(Continued)
2022 2021
—=E_ BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETFT
Revenue & 60,709 173,974
Profit (loss) for the year FEREF (E518) 1,675 (367,211)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of Company — AAB#E AEEEF (B518) 1,507 (330,490)
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling JEIEH MRS FE (5 A (B518)
interests 168 (36,721)
Profit (loss) for the year FriaF (8518) 1,675 (367,211)
Other comprehensive (expense) income KABEE NEGEMEZE
attributable to owners of the Company (B W= (3,715) 4,926
Other comprehensive (expense) income FFEFIMEREEEMEE
attributable to non-controlling interests (%) W= (413) 548
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREME2E @EX) Wa
for the year (4,128) 5,474
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREERXERE
for the year (2,453) (361,737)
Loss and total comprehensive expense RABHEA NEEFERNBER
for the year attributable to S HEHMAZELE
owners of the Company (2,208) (325,564)
Loss and total comprehensive expense R M (L A B R
for the year attributable to S HEMAZEEE
non-controlling interests (245) (36,173)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRBEREEMZEE
for the year (2,453) (361,737)
2022 2021
—EBIF B”"—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TFT
Net cash inflow (outflow) in operating activities ~ &E&EEFFFAIRESRA (AL B8 9,597 (36,883)
Net cash inflow from investing activities S EEHFBIRERAERE 2,343 43,976
Net cash outflow in financing activities MERBFTARE ML FEE (15,500) -
Net cash (outflow) inflow & O MAFEE (3,560) 7,093
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

T HF+_RA=t+—HILFE

38. JEEEWIMED (2

(Continued)
2022 2021
== %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®BTT
Maoming Shang Cheng 3%l ki1
Current assets RENE E 380,227 384,354
Non-current assets JERENEE 97 116
Current liabilities mEaE (481,105) (434,064)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Zliﬁﬂ%ﬁ)\rfﬁfb“ (65,508) (32,237)
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEFERIM R (L T (35,273) (17,357)
2022 2021
B Z-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Revenue g - -
Loss for the year FAEEE (56,768) (78,917)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RABHEE AFELEIR (36,899) (51,296)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest FEREH MM PR 5 1R (19.,869) (27,621)
Loss for the year FAEEE (56,768) (78,917)
Other comprehensive income attributable to KRB B ANEEEME2E N E
owners of the Company 3,628 92
Other comprehensive income attributable to non-  JEFEHI 14 # & FE{h Eth 2 T W &=
controlling interests 1,953 49
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMPEUWE 5,581 141
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year SERES1E K& 2 H F 2 48 %8 (51,187) (78,776)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year ZNA B A AFE(LEANEE K&
attributable to owners of the Company P HEBEZERE (33,271) (51,204)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FE3ZEil)/14 1 2 FE 15 £ N5 18 K%
attributable to non-controlling interests P HEBEZERE (17,916) (27,572)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year EWEE?E&E@F%E%%E (51,187) (78,776)
2022 2021
- T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Net cash outflow in operating activities ST RIR S R REE (1,844) (122,615)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEEBMEREMEIFEE (7,088) (108)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHFAERERA S 9,000 99,000
Net cash inflow (outflow) IBERA CR) $%8 68 (23,723)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. AAFMFFERAE
OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
—E—— -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AREFT
Non-current Assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RSB AR 2w 965,573 965,573
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I [ A B F I8 36,745 58,194
1,002,318 1,023,767
Current Assets RENEE
Other receivables HApE W FIE 248 58
Bank balances and cash RITEERIRS 631 564
879 622
Current Liabilities mENEaE
Other payables HMERIE 7,635 3,746
Other borrowing HAER 8,844 8,150
Amount due to a director B EETIA - 2,201
Amount due to a former director ER—Z A EEE A - 14,589
16,479 28,686
Net Current Liabilities mEBEFEE (15,600) (28,064)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BWEERTEEE 986,718 995,703
Non-current Liability JEREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries N ENGIE O] 879,251 796,871
Net Assets BEFE 107,467 198,832
Capital and Reserves BARRG#E
Ordinary share capital Eim AR 222,157 222,157
Reserves HHE (114,690) (23,325)
Total Equity R4 107,467 198,832

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of N _E_=—F=—A=+—HEAXRTEEE

Directors of the Company on 31 March 2023: HEE R IR RE T2
Mr. PAN Shimin Mr. CHEN Xian
BEHREE RELE
Director Director
55 s
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E_E__F+_H=+—HILFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. HTRFEHBRAKR (B
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
The movements in reserves are as follows: mEZEHAOT
Share
Share  Contributed options  Translation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
i aE MARE  BRERE ER R RHER gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®BFr ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note)
(Mzx)
At 1 January 2021 RZE_-F#-B-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 (7,449) (628,321) 15,865
Loss for the year FRER - - - = (64,285) (64,285)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional A S B EALH EE
currency to presentation currency EEZERER = = = 25,095 = 25,095
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year FRZElE (%) 258 - - - 25,095 (64,285) (39,190)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R_E_—-#+_A=+-Hk
- "#-A-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 17,646 (692,606) (23,325
Loss for the year FENEE = (25,019) (25,019)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional A SIAE A2 S
currency to presentation currency EEZERER - - - (66,346) - (66,346)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ENZERTAR - - - (66,346) (25,019) (91,365)
At 31 December 2022 AZEZETZA=1-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 (48,700) (717,625) (114,690)
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference sk . ARABRBARBIEARBEETEER 2 EELR

between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by
the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2001.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include other borrowing, lease liabilities, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, amounts due to directors, amount
due to a former director and secured bank borrowing, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associate with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

40. BEXEEEE

AEEEEHE A LR A 5 5 E 8 A
HEEE R B BB ESRRETHRA
TR 32 755 00 58 (01 3R o 7 £ ) > B B 4R B B
R o

FEBNEARBOERES (BEAMER
HEEE BAFEFMEEERBE -BUES
RE-EN - EESRERBRFRTE
) READEEAERGEED (BEBEETR
KR AER) °

EETEMRASBEEARB - FRZ BT Z—8F
D EBEFERELANAREKSBESARAZA
BRoRBEFZHEBER s&EERBBIRN
RE-FRETRROBEUKRETHESN
BOREEBTHHEBRERRB -

41. BEIA
(a) BT EZER

2022 2021
—EIEFE -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT
Financial assets HREE
FVTPL BRAREST ARG
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEARBESAEBRTE
— Held-for-trading —FHER 5 3,821 4,313
Financial assets at amortised cost B ASTEZMHEE 50,806 61,966
54,627 66,279
Financial liabilities BEasE
Amortised cost R A AR 149,160 151,010

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include deposits,
other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, restricted bank
deposit, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade and
other payables, other borrowing, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, amounts due to directors, amount
due to a former director, lease liabilities, secured bank
borrowing and bank overdrafts. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with the Group'’s financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to other borrowing and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances, variable-rate secured bank borrowing
and bank overdrafts. Interest rate risk is managed by
the management on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#

41. HMIEIRH =
(b) BBEEMESEAEREE

AEBIEVHIAEOQERS HMBK
RE-BAREF ARG ZVBEE - BR
RITEF - ERRRTER - RTEEFE -BES
R B PR S 7RIE ~ Efth (B 7R~ AR IRl 1 2
SEME-EBNESENE BN —RAEESER
BE-HEEE -AHEMETEARBETEX -
MBEITARAZFBERESHBANERE - ARAELE
BV IAZEBEEHSERER FXERK
KEABEERER) - GERBRABDESRERE-
M AEZERBEZBREINN T -EEES
EEAEEZTAEAR BREFEMMERE

R

Lz Ll

rEEREMERKEBEEEEEH A AEF
RER AEBTAARGRTER SEF
RITER RTEF AP EXBRFETE
MREBETEXERREEREN XEAR -EEE
REBEEEENXAR T EZBARHF
ERXPRZINXAFNEHZENEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate secured
bank borrowing and bank overdrafts at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel. Restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company consider
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
them is insignificant.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021: 50
basis points) higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB52,000 (2021:
RMB42,000).

41. HMIEIH =
(b) HEEMRESEEEREE (E

G ERE ()
FIFEEE ()
MR BRE DT

MTHEREDTEHRNBSHRZFEHF
RAERWMRTERRBTEINFARARMD
EH oM RERBRESHMAREERH L
EREFENREEMRRN - BEEZEEAE
L) Z R B 2 4T P9 B0 BE R By o £% R 1 0 2R D
SOEER (CZE-—F 50BER -HRED
MABEAERARTER BERFRETERR
RTEE RRREARBDESRRERNEE
EMREREFNXTAB AKX -

WHAE AL THRS0ERRE (TS - —F 50
BER MABHEMIERBEFTAE K
EERREBEBEELA THHOARE
52,00070 (& - —4&F . AR¥42,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments measured at FVTPL which are quoted in
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the management will
monitor the price movements and take appropriate actions
when it is required.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of
the reporting period. If the prices of the respective equity
investments had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the
post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
decrease/increase by approximately RMB319,000 (2021:
RMB360,000) as a result of the changes in fair value.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model under application of HKFRS 9
on other receivables individually. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#
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41. BMEITH#E
(b) HERGEEEEREE (&

SRR (i
HhEr% a5z

FEEEHRENRFERREREREZEAAE
SAABHEFEZRARE (REB MR
B MmMEEEREZEEREE TREFER
RERBEETH-

UTHERESMBENRKRSHFREDENR
RERRBRBET HWHEBRAKREER LA
S THI10% (ZEZ—F :10%) & E

T __F+ B =+— EJtEFE’JBﬁ?Mﬁ
EEBERAALGBEFmMAEL MO AR
319,000 (ZE - —4F . ARM360,000
JT) °©

1R AR EE

RIET"HF+-R=+—H x&EEEHE
HFHAREBRTEIMERETEREEY
BANEAXEERARAXBGEEMBRIE

PARZEHCEIM T EEZREE

RABBREERR BEEEENIEERMEEE
EEEERE FEMRRAEMEEZERRF MU
HERIRIIRETHBLIA IR LI iR AE
REBUBBREENFTIRE xEBRERE
HA{E B 5 1B 12 20wl B M B Wk I8 & 17 8 Bl B
BEeffh Bt EFR A/ I RBRBEEAERRD
EE Rk
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4. BMBEIAR @
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMBERBEEEFEREE &

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

=R R REE G (R

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment AEEBNABEERBERNTHEEEUATD
comprises the following categories: 17 .

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description other items

R ERE 5T 4R ik HitsEE HittEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does 12-month ECL
not have any past-due amounts

KRR R HEXNRERE > B S rEEAmRIE 128 R FEHE EE1E

Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
since initial recognition and had past-due amounts
but have been settled subsequently

hERE BYIP AT EEREREXEREM BEEARE 2HEBREESREKEHREE
MIEBERHRBEE BB

High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired

=R BREBXRASECHRESHE EHEMEEHRE—EERIE

Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

it 55 BEEBRAEHFABARENHGRE MAEEH SEEMIE

BER LEEREIRIE

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances which are subject to ECL

41.
(b)

T HF+_RA=t+—HILFE

MBIAR #E
MHERREEERRBER (&

5B R EF G ()

TRFLAEBEMBWRRIA - BRFIETHE
FoBHHBTERKRRITESF (BBRETE

HEEBENMGL FEERZEERR :

assessment:
External Internal
credit credit 12-month or Gross
Notes ratings ratings lifetime ECL carrying amount
_ SREE ABES  0ERR
Wizt TR 4R SHRBEERR BREE
2022 2021
k- e “ET-F
RMB'OO_O RMB’O@
ABBTR  ARETR
Financial assets at REAH AL EZ
amortised cost HBEEE
Bank balances RITET 22 -Baa3 /A 12-month ECL 26,667 40,114
TBR EREREERE
Restricted bank deposit A RHIRITEM 21 Al N/A 12-month ECL 7,094 -
TBR EREREERE
Pledged bank deposits BIEHRITER 2 Al N/A 12-month ECL 3,924 4,482
TBR EREREERE
Other receivables ELfthEWRIR 19 N/A Lowrisk  12-month ECL 13,357 17,110
TBR BRE  12EABRBEESRE
Medium risk ~ lifetime ECL - 476
RERR  (not credit-im mpaired)
%HH%E,HH S8
CRHEEERE
High risk lifetime ECL 907 398
BER  (credit-impaired)
ES il
(EERE)
Deposits Be 19 /A Lowrisk ~ 12-month ECL 172 263
TER HER 12{BRBHEERE
Other ftems p=g) =]
Financial quarantee MBERAN 36 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 41,814 80,314
contracts (Note) (Rt 3E) TEH Hak 18R BHEERE
Note: For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount Mzt . MMBERSAMS  REREEESEERESS

represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed
under the respective contracts.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances, restricted bank deposit and pledged bank
deposits

The credit risks on bank balances, restricted bank
deposit and pledged bank deposits are limited because
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk
in relation to its restricted bank deposit, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances placed with a bank amounted
to approximately RMB9,438,000 (2021: RMB21,608,000)
which accounted for approximately 25% (2021: 48%) of
the Group’s total restricted bank deposit, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances.

Other receivables

For other receivables under 12m ECL and under lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired), the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The other receivables mainly
represent loan receivables which are not past due and with
settlement during the year and after assessing the ECL, an
allowance of approximately RMB419,000 was recognised
(2021: RMB729,000 was reversed) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

41. BMEITH &
(b) HERKRESEEERKE (&

FERER BTG (&)

IRITAETZ ~ B IRFIIRITIZAA R EHRFFIRITIZA

HRRXZH D RESHEREETREBTE
mEEEFRNIRT FHILARIRTEF A
REFBTERRERBRBRITERNEER R
AR

AEBEBREEBRRRBITIHONOARK
9,438,0007c (ZE—-—4F : AR#21,608,000
7T) XBERFBITER BEFRITER KR
THREEHZ2ETEERR  MAEB AR
RTEF BRFRTERMIRTEFERBE
#25% (ZEBZ—4 . 48%) o

Rt 7 "

MI2EREBEEEREKREHEHEERE
(RHREERE) ETHEMERZRIEM
SRR EEREBEBATFEELSHE BEL
BOUKEEEBYRETEREMHABESEE
HHEEMEWRBZ O WEREEZEETE
HAEm -HEMERREBEFTFEERKRER L&
BE TR EANEE BRTHBEHREERRE
B BE_E__H#+_B=+—BLtEE"
EREEHARBEA419,0000 (ZE_—F
Bs[o] AR ®729,0007T) ©
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

For other receivables under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired),
receivables which are past due more than five years are
considered as default and irrecoverable and has been fully
impaired.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk in
relation to its other receivables and deposits from the
Group’'s five major debtors amounted to approximately
RMB6,873,000 (2021: RMB10,493,000) which accounted
for approximately 51% (2021: 57%) of the Group's total
other receivables and deposits. The major debtors of the
Group are property buyers. The management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Other than disclosed above, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk.

Financial guarantee contracts

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts are limited
as any default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer
the pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell
the properties through open auction. The directors of the
Company believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition. For
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the ECL for financial guarantee contracts as
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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41. BMEITH#E
(b) HERGEEEEREE (&

5B R EF G ()
HthfEWHE (&

MERRREEESR (BERE) BTHHEM
FEWGRIEMS » BE S8 0 FEIRIER
BRBEN AR I B HRE -

AEEBRELEBFIEBRRARABHEAZEHME
WHIBEBREZEEAOANREE,873,000T (ZF
—_—%F  AR%10,493,0007T) 2 EFREEE

SO HAEBEMERARBRESHEBE Y

51% (ZEBEZ—F :57%) o AEFBZTEF
BALAYEEH -MIULMES  EEEBRARGE

EEER-

fREXFIREEN  AEBTEEFEMERN
EhiEERR-

HBRERERSH

ARHES HREMRISIMEN RITAR
BRWSRTERRDENEZEXZR TAEBA
MAREERRRYE RTRBERYEEE
THREER EMEAEEZBLARMEHE
ZEMFE BUHERFRGONEERRBAER-
KABEEFRA i%*%@@fﬁ*uki
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &=

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41.

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

4= A
e [

— = — —

e —

MBIA ®
MHERREEERREER (&

=R R REE G (R

A5 ER R MIEE

F+TA=1T—HL=EE

Financial guarantee contracts (Continued) HBERSA (B
The following table shows the movements in 12m ECL and TREIRE—MAFEAER B EHMEWRIE
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for other receivables H1I2EBRBREEEEREHEHREESEE
under the general approach. Z28Ho
Other receivables Bt =E
Lifetime ECL
2HAEREEESS
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
REREMAE CRLREER
{3 BME) (EERBE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AREFTT AREFTT ARET T
At 1 January 2021 W_Z2-_—%—HF—H 1,098 138 411 1,647
Changes due to financial R_E-_—F—A—HK
instruments as 1 January MBI REE !
2021:
— Impairment loss (reversed) - (B #[E]) ERETRERE
recognised (991) 24 - (967)
New financial assets originated BE4 I EEEMN I
or purchased BE 238 - - 238
Exchange differences BERELE = - (13) (13)
At 31 December 2021 and ATE T —F
1 January 2022 +ZB=+—HkK
- "#—HF—H 345 162 398 905
Changes due to financial A ZEZF—-A—HK
instruments as 1 January BT REEE !
2022:
— Transfer to credit-impaired - EEEZERE - (162) 162 =
— Impairment loss - BERRREEE
recognised 83 - 313 396
New financial assets originated EE4+ HERBENHTHE
or purchased B 23 - - 23
Exchange differences fER =% - - 34 34
At 31 December 2022 A_EBTTF
+-BA=+—H 451 = 907 1,358
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidlity risk analysis (Continued)

41.

MBIHR®E

(b) MBERMRBEBRKRER &

TEEZEE (&

TBEE REIT (B

Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1yearto  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 month to 1 years 2 years cash flows 2022
RIEZZ
HEDE *UERERE +°A=1+-H
MEFFIE DR=ER =ZERE-%£ —EERE e ZIREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTFRT AEBFT AEBFT AEBTFR AEBTFR
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiEMBaR
Trade and other payables BRREMENTE N/A 22,286 = = 22,286 22,286
Amounts due to directors EREETE N/A 96 - - 96 96
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE(FIER 4 E A N/A 105,750 - - 105,750 105,750
Secured bank borrowing BIEBEGED
- variable rate LI ES 6.96 12,184 - - 12,184 12,184
Other borrowing HitfE 6.00 - 9,109 - 9,109 8,844
Lease liability HEaE 3.52 254 91 5 350 349
Financial quarantee contracts HBEREH N/A 41,814 - - 41,814 -
182,384 9,200 5 191,589 149,509
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1 year to 2t05  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 month to 1 years 2 years years cash flows 2021
RIBZ-%
BEXE FEFERE +°A=1T—H
TR = PR=@F =@ERE-F —EEME MEERE MERE ZEREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®BFr  ARETR ARETR ARBTn ARETn  ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTE M &E
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE NATEFR 17,117 - - - 17,117 17,117
Amounts due to directors ENESHE NATER 2,325 - - - 2,325 2,325
Amount due to a former director A —SREESHE NATER 14,589 - - - 14,589 14,589
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  JEft 514 iR FIB NATER 98,250 = = = 98,250 98,250
Bank overdrafts iﬁmj 3.06 1,959 - - - 1,959 1,959
Secured bank borrowing BRAFRITER
- variable rate — BB = 2.30 8,020 - - - 8,020 8,020
Qther borrowing HitE3 6.00 - 839 - - 8,395 8,150
Lease liability HEBE 352 234 704 318 5 1,261 1242
Financial quarantee contracts HMBEREH NATER 80,814 - - - 80,814 -
223,908 9,099 318 5 233,330 152,252
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Secured bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause is included in the “on demand or less than 3
months” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of the secured bank
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB12,184,000
and RMB8,020,000 respectively. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise its discretionary
right to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such secured bank borrowing will be repaid
eight years (2021: nine years) after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreement, details of which are set out
in the table below:

41. BMEITH#E
(b) HERMRSEEERKE (&

TEEEmE (&)
TBEE REIHT (B

EEREREZERAZBRFRITERS
SFALMBEBESONIBEERI LR =@EAH]
2EHEBEER R_E s —f&F
+ZB=1+—H BEFRTEIZRKHIR
KEBEDHNEHANAR®E12,184,0007T &
ANE#8,020,000c e st M AE B Z BB R
B EBEEFEERITYUETEAEERIFER
ZHER -EERE ZBEFRTERER
REABPRERNEFECEZ—F L F)AREE
ApEFMEACERHPEEZE HFEBHMNT
=

Carrying

Weighted Total amount at

average 1 year to Over  undiscounted 31 December

interest rate ~ Within 1 year 2 years 2to 5 years 5 years cash flows 2022

RZ%ZZ

KERRE +°A=+-H

Il BRI —ER —EERE MEERE RENE MERE ZIREE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTFR AEBTFT AEBFR AEBFT AEBTFR AEBTFR
Non-derivative financial FiTEMBaE

liabilities

Secured bank borrowings BHMETER

- variable rate —FER= 6.96 5,900 1,181 3,543 2,703 13,327 12,184

Carrying amount

Weighted Total at

average 1 year to Over undiscounted 31 December

interest rate Within 1 year 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years cash flows 2021

RIZT-F

XERRE +ZE=+-H

il SailES —FR —FEmE MEERF RENE mERE ZEEE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEFT AREFT AEBFT ARETT ANRETT AEEFT
Non-derivative financial FTEMBEE

liabilities

Secured bank borrowing BEABRITER

- variable rate —FER|= 230 1,065 1,065 3,195 3,726 9,051 8,020

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEMBRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZT—_FF#



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e IS IR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE - "+ _H=+—HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidlity risk analysis (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

41. BMEITH &
(b) HERKRESEEERKE (&

TEEEmE (&)
TEEEZ REIT (&

fTHRMBRFREVREINTBESTERR
BN ERTE (HERZXZHAH
R JERERECHNRSEE - RE
RBERRZAA 2EERXSEIEESTR
BEBZIE X MERRIE 2AM > 5t A 8t
B AR SHTREFEZEER
MHERBEREBEESREEBEMRBEERER
Z A BEME ©

15 57 Y U2 (0 58 B 8 3R 45 BA o B8 40 1 F
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41.

(9]

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(d)

the fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are
determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding financial assets at FVTPL) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions. The directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

One of the Group’s financial assets is measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table provides an analysis of financial instrument that is
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which
the fair value is observable.

41. BMEITH#E
(0 2AnE

MHEEERVBRENAREEENT !

. BRARBESFABRZMBEEZANE
BoR2EmBmBEBRBENERERE
E 5 &

. HWWMBEERYBEE (FEERA
REFABTZVBEE) WNARET
BEAXNEBRANRFEFUBEENT
BREZBERUAEBREREDINE
S EERR NGV BRERAES
WIRBHNEARZVBEERMBE
REREEHEEARERSE-

(d MBIRZAAEE

FEBZHEP-BUHFEERBRSHRZR
RESE - TREIHUBITEZ oM HIHR
NTRBBEAAEAFELRBETERLAR
BFERIAZF-—REFT =R

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-1 BIH B8 fact
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AR®ETFT ARETT ARBTFT
As at 31 December 2022 RZBE--_F#+-A=+—H
Recurring fair value measurements: KRR AnEE!
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREHAEG L HBEE 3,821 - - 3,821
As at 31 December 2021 R_E_—&+_A=1+—H
Recurring fair value measurements: KEMRAREFE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARESNEGZMBEE 4,313 - - 4313

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during
both years. The fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL is
from quoted bid prices in an active market.
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 42. MEIFHMELSEEZHIR
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFINAEBRETHMELEERZE

o OERERIFREEH RETHAEE
BEREREAECHARKRBEEARENETE
HEaoReERBRNDEAMETHEERE

arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated ZEfEo
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Amounts Interest
due to Amount payable
non-  Amounts due to Secured  (included
Lease Other  controlling dueto  aformer bank in other
liabilities  borrowing interests  directors director borrowings  payables) Total
FEft Eft—% EffIE
FEHIME  EAEE HRES BiER  GtAHM
fgaE HtEw B I HE O OBOER EGFE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2021 and RIZ2Z-F-A-Bk
1 January 2022 “E-"E-fA-H 361 8420 85,000 6,624 - 9,150 51 109,606
Financing cash flows BERSHE 972) - 13,250 (4259 14,589 (837) (78) 20,989
Exchange differences ERER 6 (270) L (40) = (293) = (597)
Interest expenses fIERE by - - - - - 782 804
Inception of new leases FieHEE 1,825 S = = = = = 1825
At 31 December 2021 and RIEZ-&
1 January 2022 +ZA=+-A%
_E_"F-B-H 1,242 8,150 98,250 2,325 14,589 8,020 51 132,627
Financing cash flows HERERE (1,017) - 7,500 (1,535) (15,831) 3,487 (886) (8,282)
Exchange differences EREH 107 694 - (694) 1,242 677 = 2,026
Interest expenses MEFY 17 - - - - - 886 903
At 31 December 2022 RIB-Z&
+ZA=+-H 349 8844 105750 9% - 12,184 51 127,274
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Schedule of Properties

YIEBE R

At 31 December 2022 R_E__F+_H=+—H

A. PROPERTIES IN THE PRC A, (IRHPEZME
Stage of
development
Group's & Date of
Location Usage Area Lease term interest Classification Completion
KEE B &
bk B il THEH it e EIHH
Portion of Maoming Project, Commercial Gross floor area—  Medium to 90% Completed, 2016
Zhangian 7th Road, approximately long term investment
Yuehua East District, 4,000 sg. m. properties
Maoming
7% At B [GES BEREEEk- FHE R 90% BRI “ERE
BERE #94,000 75 K =L/
RBBERZHD
Zhangjian 7th Road, Commercial and Gross floor area -~ Medium to 90% Completed, 2016/2018
Yuehua East District, residential complex ~ approximately* long term properties
Maoming 245,000 sg. m. held for sale
7% At B BEREEREE RREEE- FHE R 90% Bl R _f—/ E/
BERE #9*245,000F 75 EM= —N\F
VN
JIXIANG-23, Jixiang District, Commercial and Gross floor area -~ Medium to 65% Under- N/A
Maoming residential complex ~ approximately* long term development
118,000 sg. m.
REMmEFNEBIXANG-23 BERAERAE HLREER- RHE R 65% BRE TER
49%118,000 5
VN
3 Including sold and unsold portion. * BIEEERRELD
B. PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG B. {UNEEBZME
Approximate Lease Group's
Location Usage saleable area term interest
TEE
Bk itfas HMAaRHERR HER i
Suite 1501, 15th Floor, Tower 1, Silvercord, Office premises - Own use 242 sq.m. Medium 100%
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NBEERDEEREORIARL—HISEIS0IE RFEYMEZ-BH 282F 5K A 100%
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